

W&M ScholarWorks

VIMS Annual Reports

Institutional History

1-1-2001

# Virginia Institute of Marine Science 1998-2000 Biennial Report

Virginia Institute of Marine Science

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.wm.edu/vimsannualrpt

Part of the Education Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Virginia Institute of Marine Science, "Virginia Institute of Marine Science 1998-2000 Biennial Report" (2001). *VIMS Annual Reports*. 28. https://scholarworks.wm.edu/vimsannualrpt/28

This Book is brought to you for free and open access by the Institutional History at W&M ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in VIMS Annual Reports by an authorized administrator of W&M ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact scholarworks@wm.edu.



Biennial Report

2000

VIMS SH 11 .V87 1998-2000 c.2

# Table of Contents

Administration	4
Highlights 1998-2000	6
New Faculty	7
Research Highlights	8
New Research on the Horizon 10	0
Biological Sciences12	2
Environmental Sciences 14	4
Fisheries Science 10	6
Physical Sciences 18	8
Coastal & Ocean Policy 20	C
Marine Advisory Program 22	2
Chesapeake Bay National Estuarine Research Reserve in Virginia	1
Aquaculture Genetics & Breeding Technology Center25	5
Center for Coastal Resource Management	5
Eastern Shore Laboratory 27	7
School of Marine Science	3
Additional Educational Activities 30	)
Financial Activity 31	
Publications 32	2



# Administration

## Chancellor of the College

#### Henry A. Kissinger

### College of William & Mary Board of Visitors

#### J. Edward Grimsley '51, Rector

#### William P. Barr, Vice Rector

Belden H. Bell J. Peter Clements, M.B.A '82 Paul C. Jost '76, J.D. '88 Gary D. LeClair '77 Susan A. Magill '72 Elizabeth A. McClanahan '81 Jeffrey L. McWaters Donald N. Patten Joseph J. Plumeri II '66 Robert S. Roberson, M.B.A. '73

#### R. Scott Gregory '83, Secretary

Jeffrey L. Schlagenhauf '80 Regina B. Schofield L. Clifford Schroeder, Sr. Francis T. West

# 2000 - 2001 Student Representatives:

Laura C. Keehner K. LeAnn Munson College of William and Mary Richard Bland College

# Administrative Officers of the College of William & Mary

Timothy J. Sullivan	
Gillian T. Cell	Provost
Dennis Cross	Vice President For Development Services
Samuel E. Jones	Vice Presidentfor Management and Budget
Stewart H. Gamage	

## Virginia Institute of Marine Science Administrative Faculty & Staff

L. Donelson Wright Dean and Director
Eugene M. Burreson Director for Research and Advisory Services
Michael C. Newman Dean of Graduate Studies
David A. Evans Associate Dean of Graduate Studies
Linda F. Caporale Executive Assistant to the Dean/Director
Carolyn Ridgway Cook Director of Planning and Budget
Wendell B. Goodwin Director of Facilities Management
Page Hayhurst Associate Director of Development
Jane A. Lopez Director of Sponsored Research
Charles A. McFadden Library Director
Newton J. Munson Director of Information Technology and Networking Services



## Virginia Institute of Marine Science Council

Established in 1982, the Virginia Institute of Marine Science Council is an advisory and supportive body composed of business and industry leaders as well as private citizens interested in the continuing vitality of VIMS. Council members serve the institute through their participation on standing committees that include Government Relations, Industry Relations, Public Relations, and Development.

Thomas Blackburn	Chairman
E. Morgan Massey Vic	e Chairman
Cynthia C.Andrew	Secretary

#### **Active Members**

Mr. Charles R. Amory, Jr. Ms. Kathleen Bennett Mrs. Sara M. Boyd Mr. Charles E. Brinley Mr. Arthur H. Bryant, II Dr. Robert J. Byrne Mr. C.A. Cutchins, III Ms. Pamela F. Faggert Mr. J. Carter Fox Mr. Peter Gläsel The Honorable Edward M. Holland Ms. Dianne N. Hoppes The Honorable John O. Marsh, Jr. Mr. John R. Miles Mr. William C. Monroe The Honorable W. Tayloe Murphy, Jr. Mr. Carroll W. Owens, Jr. Mr. Henry C. Page, Jr. Mr. David L. Peebles

Rear Admiral Fenton F. Priest, III (USNR) Mr. James E. Rogers Mr. Charles G. Thalhimer, Jr. Mr. Charles Walker Mr. Guilford D. Ware Ms. Cynthia J. Warner Mr. William S. Wells, III Mr. Case Whittemore Mr. Martin H. Wilcox Mr. Henry C. Wolf

#### **Chairmen Emeritus**

Mr. W. R Phillips, Jr. Mr. George W. Roper, II

#### **Emeritus Members**

Mr. John A. Ahladas Mr. C. C. Ballard Mr. Bruce C. Gottwald, Sr. Mr. John B. Graham Mr. Emory A. Gross Mr. Brenton S. Halsey Mr. Arthur W. Helwia Mr. Scott Kauffman Mr. Alvin T. Keith Mr. Randolph W. McElroy Mr. Donald Parus Mr. F. Farrell Sanders Ms. Eva S. Teia Dr. Jane C. Webb Dr. James A. Wesson Mr. Douglas K. Woolfolk Mr. George A. Zahn, Jr.

# Highlights...1998-2000

## **NSF** Career Award

Dr. Carl Friedrichs, Assistant Professor, Department of Physical Sciences, received a highly competitive National Science Foundation award to combine his research on sediment related issues in estuaries with mentoring of undergraduate and high school students. This award is the highest honor given to scientists and engineers in the early stages of their independent research careers. Friedrichs was one of four oceanographers among the 56 recipients of this prestigious award.



## 1998-2000 Capital Accomplishments

The Institute received funds for and began planning and design work on a \$4.2 million renovation and expansion of Byrd Hall creating new saltwater labs, and \$0.8 million for replacement of the seriously deteriorated bulkhead in the Gloucester Point boat basin. The Institute also completed the \$0.3 million replacement of the bulkhead on the Wachapreague campus.

Several parcels of property adjacent to the Gloucester Point campus were acquired, which provide for future campus expansion and a buffer between the Institute and the surrounding community.

## **Acuff Professor**



Dr. John A. Musick, Department of Fisheries Science, was named the Marshall A. Acuff, Sr. Professor in Marine Science in 1999. During his 30 years at VIMS, Musick has published 89 peerreviewed publications, three edited volumes, and co-authored two books. In addition he has served on 39 advisory panels at the state, regional, federal,

and international level. He has achieved international prominence for his efforts to apply biological expertise to the conservation of sea turtles and sharks. Musick has also received the Thomas Ashley Graves Award for Sustained Excellence in Teaching. The Acuff chair is endowed by Marshall A. Acuff, Jr. and his wife Dana in memory of Marshall A. Acuff Sr. Maintenance Reserve funds were used for repairs and improvements that included replacing several roofs, major repairs to the aquarium, improved exterior lighting, new heating and cooling systems in several buildings, and upgrading the sewer pump station.

VIMS began a project to modernize the Institute's information technology infrastructure to meet increasing demands for information exchange including systems to carry voice, data, and video, and to make distance learning possible.

# **Economic Development Initiative**

As a result of studies initiated more than two years ago, a Center for Applied Marine Science and Technology has been created at VIMS. This center involves a partnership among VIMS, Old Dominion University's Center for Coastal Physical Oceanography, Gloucester County's Economic Development Office and Industrial Development Authority, and the Hampton Roads Partnership. Larry Wilkinson of Gloucester County was hired to spearhead and coordinate the efforts and stay abreast of emerging technology in marine science. Scientists at VIMS are making significant progress in areas such as aquaculture, acoustics, software development, environmental consultancies, and robotics that have potential for economic development in the private sector.

### **New Faculty**

As a result of recent and upcoming retirements, the Institute has completed national searches for faculty in three departments. We are very pleased with the extremely talented new faculty that will be joining the VIMS community over the next year. Each brings expertise and experience that will broaden and enhance our research and academic programs.

#### Dr. Deborah A. Bronk

Associate Professor Physical Sciences

B.S., University of Miami Ph.D., University of Maryland, Horn Point Environmental Laboratory

Dr. Bronk's research focuses on the cycling of nitrogen in marine and estuarine environments. Specific research includes the role of dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) in microbial food webs, and the utilization of marsh-derived and phytoplankton-derived DON as a nitrogen source for phytoplankton and bacteria.

#### Dr. Jesse E. McNinch

Assistant Professor Physical Sciences B.S. University of Southwestern

- Louisiana M.S. University of North
- Carolina at Chapel Hill Ph.D. University of North

Carolina at Chapel Hill

Dr. McNinch's research interests are the observation and prediction of shoreface and shoreline changes in response to underlying geology; physical and sedimentary processes on cape-associated shoals, and other inner-shelf sedimentary features.

#### Dr. Ratana Chuenpagdee

Assistant Professor Coastal & Ocean Policy M.Sc. Fisheries Biology, University of Wales, Bangor Fishery Management and Economics, Michigan State University Ph.D., Resource Management and Environmental Studies, University of British Columbia

Dr. Chuenpagdee is currently working as a Research Associate for the Institute for Resources and Environment of the University of British Columbia, Vancouver, where she is participating in an ongoing project to develop public decision-making processes for resource management and policies. From 1987 to 1992 she served as a lecturer at the Kasetsart University, Bangkok, Thailand and taught undergraduate and graduate courses in fishery management, fishery economics, integrated water resource management, and research methodology in applied and social sciences.

#### Dr. Robert L. Hicks Assistant Professor

Coastal & Ocean Policy B.A. North Carolina State Univer-

sity Ph.D. University of Maryland, Department of Agricultural and

Resource Economics

Dr. Hicks ' major research interests are environmental and resource economics, nonmarket valuation, natural resource damage assessment, and the economics of commercial and recreational fisheries. Hicks has been with the National Marine Fisheries Service for the past three years.

#### Dr. Rochelle D. Seitz

Research Assistant Professor

Biological Sciences B.A., *Colgate University* 

M.S., The College of William and Mary

Ph.D., The College of William and Mary

Dr. Seitz's research interests center around benthic community ecology, particularly changes in benthic invertebrate diversity with environmental stress, predator-prey dynamics, topdown versus bottom-up control of benthic systems, and conservation biology.

#### Dr. Courtney K. Harris

Assistant Professor Physical Sciences B.S. University of Virginia M.S. University of California at Berkeley

Ph.D. University of Virginia

Dr. Harris' research interests include 3-D modeling of river plume, wave resuspension, and wind-driven circulation effects on flood deposits; as well as quantification and prediction of shelf and estuarine sediment transport over contrasting temporal and spatial scales. She comes to VIMS from the US Geological Survey in Woods Hole.

#### Dr. Deborah Steinberg

Associate Professor Biological Sciences B.A., University of California, Santa Barbara Ph.D., University of California, Santa Cruz

Dr. Steinberg is interested in zooplankton ecology and physiology, coastal and deepsea food webs, nutrient cycling, and marine detritus ("marine snow"). She comes to VIMS from the Bermuda Biological Station for Research (BBSR) where she coordinated the Bermuda Atlantic Time-series Study, as part of the Joint Global Ocean Flux Study (JGOFS).

# **New Fisheries Faculty Position**

The National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) selected VIMS and Hampton University to become the fourth site for their Cooperative Marine Education and Research (CMER) Program. This innovative partnership provides a senior level NMFS scientist to serve as a full-time visiting professor. The scientist will teach classes at VIMS and Hampton University, mentor students and serve as a liaison for the schools and federal programs. In addition to funding the faculty position, the program also provides annual research funds to support work in areas of specific interest to NMFS. The CMER Program also facilitates access to NOAA vessels for teaching and fieldwork. Dr. Mike Vecchione, Director of NMFS Systematics Lab, is currently at VIMS to initiate the program.

# **Research Highlights**



# Mystery of Origin of Oyster Disease Solved

Dr. Gene Burreson and Marine Scientist Senior Nancy Stokes, Dept. of Fisheries Science, published the results of several years of research that proved the oyster pathogen Haplosoporidium nelsoni known to be responsible for the disease MSX in native oysters, was introduced to the east coast from the Japanese oyster Crassostrea gigas. While the pathogen is not harmful to the Japanese oyster, it has caused extensive and continuing mortality in Crassostrea *virginica*, the eastern oyster, since it first made its appearance in Chesapeake Bay in 1959. Burreson and staff developed molecular (DNA) probes that enabled them to identify the parasite. It had been speculated that the Japanese oyster was the host for the pathogen, but there was no way to prove it until molecular technology enabled researchers to develop the specific DNA diagnostic tools.



### VIMS' Scientists First To Spawn Popular Finfish

Mike Oesterling, Fisheries/Aquaculture Specialist with the Sea Grant Marine Advisory Program at VIMS, became the first in the country and possibly the world to successfully spawn the marine finfish cobia in a recirculating water system. Cobia are highly prized both as a food fish and a recreational trophy fish. They are considered prime candidates for aquaculture development because of their fast growth rate as juveniles and an expanding demand for them in the seafood marketplace.

# Crab Sanctuary Policy Based On VIMS Research

Based on research and a sanctuary plan developed by Dr. Rom Lipcius, Dept. of Fisheries Science, a 100mile sanctuary for blue crabs in the Virginia portion of Chesapeake Bay was established by the Virginia Marine Resources Commission. Research by Lipcius over the past several years has suggested a declining blue crab population.



# **VIMS Scientist On Task Force To Study Contaminant**

Dr. Rob Hale, Dept. of Environmental Sciences, and colleagues discovered that toxic brominated diphenyl ethers (BDEs) have become dispersed throughout the Roanoke and Dan rivers in South Central Virginia. The chemical is a widely used fire retardant and recently has caused considerable concern in Europe. The BDEs were detected during a study supported by, and in collaboration with, Virginia's Department of Environmental Quality while examining the extent of chemical contamination in edible fish from state tributaries. Although the full effects of the contaminant are not clearly understood, it is known that BDEs are persistent and bioaccumulate to high levels. Hale has been appointed to a task force that includes VIMS, DEQ, Virginia Health Department and several other state and federal agencies to continue investigating the pollutant.



# New Research on the Horizon



# **International Sand Transport Study**

In collaboration with scientists at the New Zealand Institute of Water and Atmospheric Research, Drs. Don Wright and Carl Friedrichs, S.C. Kim and Harry Wang recently received funding from the National Science Foundation to begin a two-year study. The studies will include both field and numerical modeling. The team will measure sand transport at sites in New Zealand that have comparable shoreface characteristics but different environmental conditions than sites being studied on the Virginia coast. The data will be used to develop computational models that will have applications in both countries.

Scott Hardaway, Department of Physical Sciences, and Lyle Varnell, Center for Coastal Resources Management, are working to classify dune systems in the Virginia Chesapeake Bay. Dune resources in the lower bay previously have not been fully identified, enumerated, or classified. Their work is examining the extent of the existing dune system around Chesapeake Bay, the morphologic changes and factors that influence the evolution of the dunes, and the development of a geology-based classification system.





Drs. Jeffrey Shields, Wolfgang Vogelbein, Larry Haas, and Howard Kator have been awarded a three-year grant from the Environmental Protection Agency to examine the relationship between lesions on menhaden, the toxic dinoflatellage, Pfiesteria piscicida, and the fungus Aphanomyces sp. that has been found in lesions on the fish. The goal of their work is to identify the environmental and biological conditions that contribute to the development and progression of the lesions.

# **Biological Sciences**



# **Major Programs**

**Benthic Ecology** 

Studies focus on the major processes governing the structure and function of benthic systems. Component processes are addressed using a variety of approaches, ranging from molecular genetic studies of evolutionary relationships among species to interdisciplinary studies of organisms or communities interacting with their environment. In most cases research is focused on benthic systems of the land-sea margins, including tidal freshwater, estuarine and coastal regions. On-going research programs include studies of processes influencing recruitment, growth and production of benthic organisms; linkages between benthic and pelagic systems through processes such as nutrient cycling and trophic transfer; functional role of benthic communities in the transport and fate of materials such as sediments, organic matter and contaminants.

Modeling activities have been directed towards developing and using digital computer **Ecosystem Modeling** simulation models as integrative and synthetic tools in ecosystem analysis. Current programs include modeling studies of both temperate and tropical seagrasses, the dynamics of littoral zones in estuaries, estuarine plankton-nutrient interactions, and watershed nutrient cycling processes with an emphasis on spatial heterogeneity. Working with hydrodynamic and water quality modelers, a general goal of the program is to develop linked models that address both basic and applied ecological management questions. Research in macrophyte ecology concentrates on submersed and emergent macrophyte Macrophyte Ecology species that dominate shallow subtidal and intertidal marine, brackish, and freshwater areas. Current research includes studies on plant distribution and abundance, restoration ecology, plant dispersal mechanisms, plant response to environmental variability, plant growth and productivity, carbon and nitrogen cycling and ecosystem simulation modeling. The program encourages multi-investigator and multi-institutional collaborative efforts. This program focuses on processes which regulate water quality and production in inter-**Nutrient Cycling** tidal. shallow subtidal, estuarine, coastal, and oceanic habitats. Current studies are focused on processes in shallow, coastal ecosystems which either remove or transform dissolved inorganic and organic nutrients during their transport across the land margin. Other studies are examining the impacts of nutrient cycling processes on the food web. Interdisciplinary studies investigate benthic-pelagic coupling, organismal biomechanics **Physical Biology** including aquatic locomotion, and ecosystem metabolism using innovative instrumentation, including Autonomous Underwater Vehicles. Plankton research addresses processes of primary production by phytoplankton and sec-**Plankton Processes** ondary consumption by bacteria, protozoans and zooplankton in estuarine, coastal, shelf, and open ocean systems. System-wide and both short- and long- term responses to cultural eutrophication are addressed. Collaborative research aimed at understanding the links between plankton dynamics and recruitment of economically important fish are also pursued. The ecology of harmful algal blooms is of particular interest, as is the role of plankton in regulating carbon and nitrogen cycling.

## Faculty

Richard L. Wetzel (Chair) Professor Iris C. Anderson Professor Robert J. Diaz Professor Hugh W. Ducklow Loretta and Lewis Glucksman Professor J. Emmett Duffy Associate Professor Leonard W. Haas Associate Professor Kenneth A. Moore Research Assistant Professor Robert J. Orth Professor Mark R. Patterson Associate Professor Linda C. Schaffner Associate Professor Rochelle D. Seitz Research Assistant Scientist Walker O. Smith, Jr. Professor Deborah K. Steinberg Associate Professor Helen L. Quinby Faculty Research Associate

#### **Emeritus Faculty**

Michael Castagna Professor Emeritus George C. Grant Professor Emeritus William J. Hargis, Jr. Professor Emeritus Kenneth L. Webb Chancellor Professor Emeritus

# Environmental Sciences



# Major Programs

Environmental Chemistry Sources, transport, fate and bioavailability of pollutants in aquatic systems are focal points. Research addresses issues such as degradation and partitioning in the environment and emerging contaminants of concern. Other interests include modeling the spatial distribution of environmental contaminants using GIS and the application of modern computer techniques to data analysis and interpretation. New techniques are being developed to separate, purify, and identify anthropogenic compounds and their breakdown products. Contaminants of particular interest include petroleum hydrocarbons, antifoulants such as tributyltin, pesticides, fire retardants, and detergents.

**Aquatic Toxicology** 

Toxicity effects are measured as 1) responses of individuals and populations to contaminated water and sediment, 2) uptake and elimination of pollutants by individual organisms, and 3) cellular, histological, subcellular, and molecular mechanisms of uptake, internal distribution, biotransformation, and clearance of hazardous chemicals.

#### Pathobiology

Major projects focus on infectious and non-infectious diseases of fish and shellfish. A variety of immunological, cytological, histological, biochemical, and molecular techniques are applied to determine the mechanism(s) by which pathogens cause disease in the host organisms. These tools are also used to help investigate host-defense mechanisms, and to develop diagnostics, therapeutics, and vaccines for use in aquaculture.

#### Ecological Risk Assessment

Risk assessment tools are applied to evaluate the risk associated with exposure to hazardous chemicals, pathogens and bacterial agents, both individually and collectively in complex mixtures. The goal is to provide a conceptual framework that will improve environmental management by allowing resource agencies to focus their resources on those issues of greatest importance and those most likely to be improved measurably by effective management.

#### Environmental Microbiology

This diverse program 1) focuses on the consequences of introduced indicator microorganisms (bacteria and virus) and human pathogens in waters used for recreation, aquaculture, and shellfish industries; 2) seeks to develop and validate methods for detection of allochthonous microorganisms of public health significance and to understand their fate and autecology in aquatic environments; 3) studies processes that contribute to eutrophication and microbial contamination of receiving waters; and 4) engages in collaborative research to understand the role of bacteria in diseases of feral and cultured fish.

## Faculty

Morris H. Roberts, Jr. Professor (Chair) Michael C. Newman Professor Stephen L. Kaattari Professor Fu-Lin Chu Professor Mohamed Faisal Abdel-Kariem Professor Howard I. Kator Associate Professor Robert C. Hale Associate Professor Peter A Van Veld Associate Professor Wolfgang K. Vogelbein Associate Professor Craig L. Smith Associate Professor (Deceased, Jan, 1999) Michael A. Unger Assistant Professor Jeffrey D. Shields Assistant Professor Martha W. Rhodes Instructor Drew Luellen Research Associate Margaret Mulvey Research Associate Shaban L. Kotob Research Associate Ilsa Kaattari Research Associate Eric Lund Post-Doctoral Research Associate Yasunari Kiryu Post-Doctoral Research Associate

#### **Emeritus Faculty**

Henry Aceto, Jr. Professor Emeritus Rudolf H. Bieri Professor Emeritus William J. Hargis, Jr. Professor Emeritus Robert J. Huggett Professor Emeritus J. Ernest Warriner Professor Emeritus

# Fisheries Science



# **Major Programs**

**Commercial Fisheries** 

Development

Anaaromous Fisnes	of important migratory species such as striped bass and American shad that spawn in Virginia's tidal fresh waters.
Aquaculture Genetics & Breeding Technology Center	Research includes development of brood stocks in shellfish species, including selective breeding (especially for disease resistance), chromosome set manipulation, and evalu- ation of non-native species.
Aquaculture Molecular Genetics	Research interests include molecular genetic analyses of aquaculture species and disease organisms. Emphasis is on oyster genomics, molecular phylogenetics, population genet- ics, and the development of molecular diagnostics for protozoan pathogens.
Bivalve Ecology	Studies focus on recruitment of bivalves, particularly oysters, and the effects of the envi ronment on physiology and behavior of larval oysters and other bivalves; oyster popula tion assessments; and the development of disease-resistant hybrids.
*	

Research includes gear selectivity and bycatch as well as management and regulatory strategies for seafood production, processing, and utilization.

**Crustacean Ecology** 

Studies examine the behavioral ecology, population dynamics and recruitment mechanisms of the blue crab in the Chesapeake Bay and spiny lobster in the Caribbean, Emphasis on predator-prey interactions, population and fisheries modeling, ecology of natural and artificial reef systems, and ecology of tropical fish and queen conch.

**Finfish Ecology** 

Pathology

Ecology

**Fisheries Genetics** 

Studies of the dynamics, recruitment, stock structure and life history of marine, estuarine and anadromous fishes based on surveys, tagging, and sampling fisheries landings, studies. Data generated by this program are directly applied to stock assessment and fisheries management by state and regional agencies.

**Fish and Shellfish** Ongoing research focuses on the systematics, life cycles, ecology, pathology and control of important disease agents in the Chesapeake Bay region. Current emphasis is on protozoan parasites of oysters, blue crabs, and fishes.

> Examines the application of molecular genetic techniques to address problems in fisheries science. Studies focus on analysis of stock structure, use of molecular characteristics to identify early life-history stages of marine organisms; and the evaluation of taxonomic and biogeographic hypotheses with molecular genetic information.

Focuses on the effects of environmental variables (weather and climate) on the survival. **Fisheries Oceanography** recruitment, and distribution of fishes and other marine organisms.

Continuing studies into the comparative morphology, reproduction, and population dy-Marine Vertebrate Methodology namics of sharks; long-term research on the distribution, migration, abundance, ecology, and energetics of sea turtles; and investigations of the life history of finfish.

Involves the systematic evaluation of stock-assessment procedures and the development Stock Assessment of new mathematical models and statistical methods for studying populations and their responses to exploitation. Tagging, survey, and landings data are used to estimate population size, mortality rates, components of mortality, yield, spawning potential, and effects of changes in fishery regulations. Applications include invertebrates and vertebrates in temperate and tropical sport and commercial fisheries.

**Systematics** and Taxonomy Taxonomically diverse studies that focus on the morphology, evolution, taxonomy and zoogeography of various vertebrate and invertebrate groups. The program promotes a total-evidence approach to phylogenetic research, including molecular techniques and morphological studies of larval, juvenile, and adult forms.

### Faculty

John E. Graves (Chair) Professor Standish K. Allen, Jr. Professor Herbert M. Austin Professor Eugene M. Burreson Professor Mark E. Chittenden, Jr. Professor William D. DuPaul Professor

John M. Hoenig Professor Romuald N. Lipcius Professor Mark W. Luckenbach Associate Professor Jon A. Lucy Instructor Roger L. Mann Professor John A. Musick Professor

John E. Olney Associate Professor Jacques van Montfrans Instructor Kimberly S. Reece Assistant Professor Quanqi Zhang Post-Doctoral Research Assistant

#### **Emeritus Faculty**

Jay D. Andrews Professor Emeritus Dexter S. Haven Professor Emeritus Joseph G. Loesch Professor Emeritus Frank O. Perkins **Professor** Emeritus Willard A. Van Engel **Professor Emeritus** Frank J. Wojcik Professor Emeritus

# Physical Sciences



# Major Programs

Chemical Fate and Transport	Examines the physical-chemical properties, and the naturally occurring transport and transformation pathways, for chemical contaminants within aquatic ecosystems.
Surface Geochemistry	Studies focus on reactions of man made and natural products at the interface between minerals, sediment, and suspended particles.
Biogeochemistry	Studies focus on interdisciplinary science and chemistry of the Earth's surface, including interactions among the atmosphere, oceans, crustal minerals, and living organisms.
Nitrogen & Carbon Cycling	Investigates marine and estuarine biogeochemistry of nitrogen and carbon using stable isotope techniques.
Organic Geochemistry	Examines organic matter, including factors controlling its production, transformation, and ultimate fate.
Small Scale Physical Processes	Studies focus on coastal fronts, internal waves (including internal tides), and the development and breakdown of density stratification to understand vertical and horizontal fluxes in estuaries and on the shelf.
Continental Shelf Dynamics	Emphasis is on understanding the physical mechanisms that cause across-shelf trans- port of particles.
Estuarine Dynamics	Addresses both large-scale, long-term transport processes and smaller scale, often local- ized, short-term processes, using observation, and theoretical and computational tools.

Sediment Geochemistry and Geochronology	Studies seabed processes that determine the ultimate fate of particulate materials and chemicals in estuarine and coastal environments.
Sediment Transport Modeling	Focuses on quantifying and predicting shelf and estuarine sediment transport and spa- tial scales employing 3-D modeling techniques.
Shoreline Studies and Stratigraphy	Works toward developing proper responses to shoreline erosion at specific sites via beach nourishment and/or stabilization to avoid the loss of highly valued coastal prop- erty, and in some cases, living coastal resources.
Dispersal of River Sediments	Focuses on the transfer processes and fate of river-derived sediment in coastal seas.
Sediment Erosion and Deposition Processes	Employes various methods to quantify the erosion and deposition rates of sediment at the water-sediment interface.
Coastal and Estuarine Numerical Modeling	Emphasizes the use of computer models to simulate current, water levels, salinity, and temperature and their effects on environmental conditions such as water quality, sediment, and larval transport.
Water Waves	Focuses on transformation processes and nearshore wave climate prediction.
Bottom Boundary Layer Dynamics	Conducts observational and theoretical studies of turbulence, mixing, stress, stratifica- tion, and sediment and velocity profiles within the lowest few meters of the water col- umn.
Coastal Geology	Makes observations and predictions of shoreface and shoreline changes in response to underlying geology; and studies sedimentary processes affecting inner-shelf features (e.g., cape-associated shoals), scour structures, and burial artifacts.

## Faculty

Steven A. Kuehl (Chair) Professor James E. Bauer Associate Professor John D. Boon, III Professor John M. Brubaker Associate Professor Deborah Bronk Associate Professor Elizabeth A. Canuel Associate Professor Catherine J. Chisholm-Brause Assistant Professor Rebecca M. Dickhut Associate Professor

David A. Evans Associate Professor Carl T. Friedrichs Assistant Professor Carl H. Hobbs, III Associate Professor Sung-Chan Kim Research Assistant Professor Albert Y. Kuo Professor Jerome P.-Y. Maa Associate Professor William G. MacIntyre Professor Jesse E. McNinch Assistant Professor

John D. Milliman Professor Harry Wang Assistant Professor L. Donelson Wright Chancellor Professor Robert A. Gammisch Marine Science Supervisor C. Scott Hardaway Marine Science Supervisor

#### **Incoming Faculty**

Courtney K. Harris Assistant Professor

#### **Emeritus Faculty**

Robert J. Byrne Professor Emeritus Maynard M. Nichols Professor Emeritus Evon P. Ruzecki Professor Emeritus

# **Coastal & Ocean Policy**



T he Department of Coastal and Ocean Policy was recently reorganized . Formerly the Department of Resource Management and Policy, the reorganization facilitates the expansion of both research and academic interests, as well as, advisory activities. Expansion of departmental faculty is expected to increase interests and expertise in a broad range of research and academic areas.

# **Major Programs**

Coastal Ecosystems	The program emphasizes the development of field and remote sensing models and algo- rithms necessary to assess coastal ecological phenomena. A major compoent of this program involves monitoring stress and long-term changes in vascular-plant communi- ties of tidal and non-tidal wetlands, and the relationship of those changes to changes in environmental parameters within a watershed. Another major component is to deter- mine the role of environmental conservation and sustainable development in several de- veloping nations.
Marine Resources	Research in this program focuses on determining the management and utilization of coastal and marine resources, that is optimum for society but consistent with scientific recommendations. Research interests include resource and environmental economics, resource management, statistics, game theory, risk and uncertainty, contingent valuation, valuing non-market goods and services, operations research analysis, resource allocation, international trade, coastal-zone management, the social and economic ramifications of offshore oil and gas exploration and production, aquaculture, economic impact assessment, and fisheries.
Ocean and Coastal Law	Major research activities of this program involve determining the appropriate role of government in public decision-making, and assessing the feasibility of using various property-rights regimes to manage marine and coastal resources and the environment. OCL faculty often engage in collaborative research with faculty from the William and Mary Law School, the School of Business Administration, the School of Arts and Sci- ences, and the Environmental Sciences Cluster.
Coastal Zone Planning	This program focuses on applying an interdisciplinary approach to integrating science, policy, and communities in the use and management of coastal areas.
Coastal Wetlands	The Coastal Wetlands program conducts extensive research on the structure, function, and optimum use of wetlands and coastal lands. Results from the research is widely ap- plied and has earned worldwide recognition.

# Faculty

James E. Kirkley (Chair) Associate Professor Thomas A. Barnard, Jr. Assistant Professor Ratana Chuenpagdee Assistant Professor Carl H. Hershner Associate Professor Robert L. Hicks Assistant Professor Kevin P. Kiley Programmer/Analyst Dr. Maurice (Mo) Lynch Professor James E. Perry III Research Associate Professor Walter J. Priest Marine Science Supervisor Dr. William G. Reay Research Assistant Professor Gene M. Silberhorn Professor Dennis L. Taylor Professor

#### **Emeritus Faculty**

Bart Thebarge Professor (Dept. of Resource Management and Policy)

# Marine Advisory Program

The role of the Marine Advisory Program (MAP) is to respond to the needs of the marine industry and the general public, and to provide information that will increase the public's awareness of the marine environment. MAP is associated with the Sea Grant program, a state/federal program administered through the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration.



# **Major Programs**

#### **Marine Recreational Fisheries**

This program focuses on the issues and concerns associated with recreational fisheries management. Current efforts reflect the needs of a growing number of recreational users and an expanding coastal population, and focus on communicating such needs to fisheries researchers and managers.

#### Marine Business and **Coastal Development**

This program provides requisite support for all commercial and recreational watercraft owners-a broad constituent base whose members support the economies of Virginia's coastal cities, rural areas, and towns. Emphasis is on economic development initiatives, providing technical assistance, and acting as a liaison between the marine-trade industry and coastal resource management and regulatory agencies.

#### Commercial Fisheries and Aquaculture

Research and advisory services are directed toward helping individuals and organizations engaged in the commercial harvesting, culturing, processing, and distribution of fisheries products. Staff also conduct applied studies on shellfish and marine finfish aquaculture in cooperation with the commercial fisheries industry.

#### **Marine Education**

The marine education program is multi-faceted and serves a variety of audiences. Built on the content and expertise of research and academic programs, the program focuses on bridging the gap between researchers and educators and employs the technologies of distance learning to maximize impact. Projects are organized into three areas: K-12 teaching and learning; seafood education; and development of a state-of-the-art marine education center.

#### Communications & Public Relations

Communications staff employ a variety of media and methods to disseminate scienceand advisory-based information to the people of Virginia and the Chesapeake Bay region. These include the Marine Resource Bulletin, published quarterly and the award marine education website the Bridge. The Virginia Marine Resource Bulletin and technical advisories form the foundation of research information delivery. Additionally, program support materials are produced in response to client needs.

## Staff

Dr. William DuPaul Professor, Dept. of Fisheries Science Sea Grant Extension Program Leader, VA Sea Grant College Program, MAS Cheryl Teagle Business Manager Barbara Kriete Office Services Specialist Thomas Murray Marine Business and Coastal Development Specialist Harrison Bresee Marina Technical Advisory Specialist Robert Fisher Commercial Fisheries Specialist Michael Oesterling Commercial Fisheries Specialist John Olney, Jr. Aquaculture Specialist David Rudders Commercial Fisheries Specialist Jeffrey Tellock Marine Aquaculture Specialist Sally Mills Communicator Vicki Clark Marine and Seafood Education Specialist Susan Haynes Marine Education Specialist LeeLarkin Marine Education Leader

Lisa Lawrence Marine Education Specialist Jon Lucy Marine Recreation Specialist Carol Rideout Bay Team Teacher Laura Rose Marine Education Specialist



# Chesapeake Bay National Estuarine Research Reserve in Virginia

The Chesapeake Bay National Estuarine Research Reserve in Virginia (CBNERRVA) maintains ecological sites in the Bay watershed for long-term estuarine research and monitoring, environmental education and conservation of key estuarine resources. CBNERRVA is a branch of NOAA's National Estuarine Research Reserve System and is developed and managed through VIMS.

CBNERRVA maintains reserves at the Goodwin Islands, the Catlett Islands, Taskinas Creek, and Sweet Hall Marsh in the York River basin, and will eventually add sites on the Potomac, Rappahannock, and James River basins, the mainstem of the Bay, and the Eastern Shore.

Investigators from VIMS and other institutions are involved in more than 20 research projects on the CBNERRVA sites, including monitoring of plants, birds, water quality, and estuarine debris. Future work will include monitoring fishes, amphibians, reptiles, and invertebrates. The research sites also serve as *outdoor classrooms* for local schools, environmental organizations and state agencies.

CBNERRVA is designated a Sister Reserve to the Tianjin Paleocoastal and Wetland Nature Reserve, Tianjin, Peoples



Republic of China through a memorandum of Understanding between the National Ocean Services (NOS) of the U.S. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) and the People's Republic of China, State Oceanic

Administration (SOA), under the US-China Science and Technology Agreement of 1997.

In 1999, the Commonwealth established a Virginia Estuarine and Coastal research Reserve System to be managed and operated by VIMS in coordination with CBNERRVA.

# Staff\_

Dr. Maurice (Mo) Lynch Professor Manager,CBNERRVA Dr. William G. Reay Research Assistant Professor Research Coordinator/ Assistant Manager Dr. David Niebuhr Research Assistant Professor, School of Education Education Coordinator April Bahen Assistant Education/ Communications Coordinator Eric Wooden Monitoring Coordinator

Carolyn Gardner Administrative Assistant

# Aquaculture Genetics and Breeding Technology Center

In 1997, Virginia legislators established the Aquaculture Genetics and Breeding Technology Center (ABC) at VIMS. The Center in one of the first dedicated centers for breeding shellfish. ABC focuses on selective breeding and genegic engineering of shellfish - making them more uniform, like agricultural crops. ABC primarily works with shellfish because of their economic importance to Virginia and the region.

# **Major Programs**

• Disease-resistant oysters are under development and two varieties have been released to commercial hatcheries for seed production. Breeding for disease resistance will help to revitalize natural oyster populations and enhance the development of an oyster aquaculture industry. These same strains of oysters will also be useful in restoring of oyster reefs.

• ABC's Clam Breeding Project is comparing commercial strains of clams in support of the \$15M a year clam aquacul-

ture industry. Our role will be to define the value of these strains, and refine them through selective breeding, improving Virginia's competitive edge through superior strains.

• ABC's molecular genetics program is developing unique markers for oyster species. At the local level, these markers will be used for accelerating selection for disease resistance. At the international level, ABC is helping to define the range and extent of genetic resources in oyster species worldwide. ABC is evaluating some of these resources.

• Non-native oysters are a valuable source of genetic material for breeding, for understanding comparative physiology, and potentially for providing alternative species for aquaculture.

ABC is pioneering 21<sup>st</sup> century technology to evaluate and develop techniques for reducing the risk of introducing nonnative oysters in Chesapeake Bay.

# Staff

Dr. Standish K. Allen, Jr. Professor Director of Center Peggy Cooney Administrative Assistant Ann Arseniu Hatchery & Research Manager, Gloucester Point Dan Sennett Assistant Hatchery & Research Manager, Gloucester Point Aimee Howe Laboratory Specialist A.J. Erskine Laboratory Specialist Dr. Kim Reece Assistant Professor Karen Hudson LaboratorySpecialist Wendi Ribeiro Marine Scientist Nate Geyerhahn Field and Research Manager, Eastern Shore Tim Rapine Hatchery and Research Manager, Eastern Shore



# Center forCCRMCoastal Resource Management



**The Comprehensive Coastal Inventory Program** (CCI) undertakes inventory and monitoring projects for wetlands, shoreline, and associated natural and cultural resources in the coastal plain; applied research in GIS and image processing; and applied research in resource management based on inventory information.

**The Coastal Watershed Program** undertakes projects to support management and planning of local and regional watersheds. The program synthesizes information from many disciplines in response to requests for technical assistance from state agencies, local governments, local watershed organizations, and industry groups. The primary focus is understanding the impacts of land-use practices on water quality and habitat functions in coastal watersheds.

**The Wetlands Program** undertakes basic and applied research; advisory support of tidal and nontidal wetlands management programs; graduate education; and outreach education projects.

## Staff.

Carl H. Hershner Associate Professor Director of Center Kirk Havens Assistant Director Agnes Lewis Business Manager Dawn Fleming Executive Secretary

#### Comprehensive Coastal Inventory

Marcia Berman Harry Berquist Sharon Dewing Julie Glover Tamia Rudnicky Dan Schatt Dave Weiss

#### Wetlands

Thomas A. Barnard, Jr. Patty Clancy Cary Coppock Karen Duhring Kirk Havens Pamela Mason Anne Newsom Walter I. Priest, III William Roberts Gene M. Silberhorn Becky J. Thomas Lyle Varnell

# Eastern Shore Laboratory



The VIMS Eastern Shore Laboratory (ESL), is located in the seaside village of Wachapreague. This field station is uniquely suited for field research into coastal processes, and provides convenient access to the eastern portion of the Chesapeake Bay and the barrier island, salt marsh-lagoonal systems along Virginia's Atlantic shore.

Facilities at the ESL include seawater laboratories, quarantine hatchery facilities, a seawater flume laboratory and classroom, and laboratory teaching facilities. Office and laboratory space for visiting investigators and a dormitory are also located here.

Current research activities include investigations into nitrogen cycling in salt marshes, disease transmission between mollusks, population dynamics of finfish and shellfish, and a large-scale research project on habitat restoration of oyster reefs and seagrass beds.

# Staff

Mark Luckenbach Professor, Director Eastern Shore Laboratory Francis O'Beirn, Ph.D. Marine Scientist Al Curry Laboratory Specialist Gretchen Arnold Laboratory Specialist P.G. Ross Laboratory Specialist Stephanie Bonniwell Laboratory Technician Senior Celia Cackowski Laboratory Technician Senior Kari Bagdasarian Laboratory Technician Senior Reade Bonniwell Buildings and Grounds Supervisor Nancy Lewis Program Support Technician Nate Geyerhahn Aquaculture Genetics and Breeding Technology Center Tim Rapine Aquaculture Genetics and Breeding Technology Center

# School of Marine Science

Currently about 125 students are enrolled in the graduate program. They are roughly equally divided between Master of Science and Ph.D. candidates. Students are drawn from colleges and universities worldwide. International students constitute about 12% of the student body. Because coastal and estuarine research requires an interdisciplinary understanding of the environment, first-year students take a series of five core courses designed to provide broad-based knowledge in Marine Science.





Advanced students may take a wide variety of lecture, seminar, and laboratory courses, in their field of research interest. In addition, William and Mary programs, such as the College's Environmental Science and Policy Cluster, provide opportunities for students to work directly with faculty in the Law School, the Public Policy Institute, and other groups within the social and natural sciences. Graduates find work at academic and research institutes; management and regulatory agencies at the local, state and federal level; and in the corporate and private sector.

### **Degrees** Awarded

#### 1998-1999

#### Doctor of Philosophy

Heidi Banford Vincent Buonaccorsi Giancarlo Cicchetti David Carlini William Coles Anamarija Franki James Gelsleichter Steven Goodbred, Jr. Monica Lara David Niebuhr Martha Nizinski Gary Schultz, Jr. Yongsik Sin Geoffrey Trussell Peter van den Hurk Fisheries Science Fisheries Science Fisheries Science Fisheries Science Resource Mgt. & Policy Fisheries Science Physical Sciences Fisheries Science Resource Mgt. & Policy Fisheries Science Biological Sciences Biological Sciences Biological Sciences Environmental Sciences

#### **Master of Science**

Eva Bailey Michael Campana Matthew Church Robyn Draheim Colleen Fennessy Richard Kraus Ai Ning Loh Alfonso Lombana John Parker Jennifer Reid David Rudders Wendy Rose Melissa Southworth Eric Wooden Biological Sciences Resource Mgt. & Policy Biological Sciences Biological Sciences Fisheries Science Physical Sciences Biological Sciences Resource Mgt. & Policy Fisheries Science Environmental Sciences Fisherises Science Biological Science

#### 1999-2000

#### **Doctor of Philosophy**

Ian Bartol Soraya Bartol Martin Cavalluzzi Thomas Chisholm Jan Cordes Timothy Dellapenna Juliana Harding Matthew Harwell Kevin Hovel Michelle Neubauer Peter Raymond Mary Rybitski Craig Tobias Fisheries Science Fisheries Science Physical Science Physical Science Physical Sciences Fisheries Science Biological Sciences Fisheries Science Biological Sciences Physical Sciences Environmental Sciences Biological Sciences

#### **Master of Science**

Megan Bohlen Meredith Bostrom Peter Countway Michael Arendt Rebecca Countway Brett Falterman John Galler Thomas Ihde Kenneth Macdonald Jacques Oliver John Walter, III Haili Zhang Physical Sciences Fisheries Science Biological Sciences Fisheries Science Physical Sciences Fisheries Science Biological Sciences Environmental Sciences Fisheries Science Environmental Sciences

### Awards

Tami Lunsford

2000, Best Poster Award, Atlantic Estuarine Research Society

**Christine Conrad** 1999, National Science Foundation Graduate Research Fellowship, \$15,000 stipend and \$10,000 tuition/year for three years Elizabeth Mountz 2000, Virginia Space Grant Consortium Aerospace Graduate Research Fellowship, \$5000.00

29

# **Additional Education Programs**

## **Summer Interns**

Undergraduates from around the country learned about



coastal marine sciience as part of the VIMS Summer Intern Program. During the last biennium, VIMS faculty mentored 25 rising junior and senior college students in

one-on-one research experiences on topics ranging from oyster biology to sediment transport. This program, coordinated by Dr. Linda Schaffner of the Department of Biology, is one of 22 such competitive entry programs funded through the National Science Foundation, Division of Geosciences as part of the Research Experience for Undergraduates (REU) program.

## Female Initiation Into Research, Science & Technology (F.I.R.S.T.)

Supported by funds from the Ocean Sciences Division of the National Science Foundation, the



F.I.R.S.T. Program is designed to provide research experience in fields such as chemical and geological oceanography, where females have been traditionally under represented. The F.I.R.S.T. Program sponsored 24 high school girls during the past four summers. The girls came primarily from Virginia including public and private schools in the cities of Richmond, Virginia Beach, Newport News, Hampton, and Williamsburg as well as Franklin, York, Gloucester, and Matthews Counties. The FIRST Program involved women faculty, staff, and graduate students in the Physical Sciences, Environmental Sciences, Coastal Ocean Policy and Biological Sciences departments. A few FIRST alumni extended their projects beyond the FIRST program and received scholarships from the Virginia Junior Academy of Science. Several currently attend prestigious colleges and universities in Virginia and throughout the country including an Echols Scholar at the University of Virginia. Dr. Elizabeth Canuel, Associate Professor, Dept. of Physical Science, developed and coordinates the program.

# **Mini-School of Marine Science**

This public education series expanded to include sessions on Virginia's marine resources and environmentally sensitive landscaping techniques. These were presented in Richmond, Newport News, Gloucester Point and Williamsburg over the past year. More than 350 people participated in the series. two sessions were presented on the Eastern Shore, the first session was held at the VIMS Eastern Shore Laboratory with more than 60 attendees. Additional sessions are planned for the Northern Neck, Northern Virginia, Portsmouth, and Chesapeake.

# Governor's School Program

VIMS Governor's School is a five-week summer residential school administered by the VIMS Sea Grant Marine Advisory Program in cooperation with the Virginia Department of Education. For 16 years, this program has been serving high-achieving high school students from throughout Virginia and providing participants with experiences in marine research. During the summer of 2000 six exceptional students from across the state spent five intensive weeks in laboratories and in the field working with faculty, staff, and graduate students in VIMS' Departments of Fisheries Science, Environmental Sciences, and Physical Oceanography, and the Center for

Coastal Resources Management. Projects included a study of the differences in clam density by habitat and location in the York River, a study



of the vegetation and community structure of the VIMS marsh, and producing quicksand in preparation for acoustic sediment analysis. The students assist with VIMS research projects by assuming responsibility for specific research duties and reporting on this work in a scientific seminar at the end of the session.

# Financial Activity

The 1998-2000 biennium brought both challenge and opportunity to the Institution. Resources were aligned to support the growing research, advisory, and instructional missions while decreasing the portion of the institutional budget allocated to administrative and support services. In addition, several major capital projects afforded VIMS an opportunity to substantially increase and improve research facilities.

Private funds play an important role in supporting the mission of the institute. These funds support endowed professorships, student scholarship and research. An investor's report is available upon request.



# Publications

- 1535. Musick, John A., Norcross, Brenda L., Hata, David, 1999. Fish and fisheries of the seaside of the Eastern Shore of Virginia. Virginia Marine Resource Report No. 99-5, 25 p.
- 1966. Hargis, William J., Jr, Haven, Dexter S., 1999. Chesapeake oyster reefs, their importance, destruction and guidelines for restoring them. In Luckenbach, Mark W., Roger Mann and James A. Wesson, eds. Oyster Reef Habitat Restoration: A Synopsis and Synthesis of Approaches Gloucester Pt., VA, VIMS Press: 1999, Chapter 23: p. 329-358.
- 2039. Maa, Jerome P.-Y., Sanford, L., Halka, J.P., 1998. Sediment resuspension characteristics in the Baltimore Harbor, Maryland. Marine Geology 146: 137-145.
- 2046. **Duffy**, J. Emmett, 1999. On the frequency of eusociality in snapping shrimps (Decapoda: Alpheidae), with description of a second eusocial species. *Bulletin of Marine Science* 62: 387-400.
- 2052. Maa, Jerome P.-Y., **Hobbs**, Carl H., III, 1998. Physical impact of waves on adjacent coasts resulting from dredging at Sandbridge Shoal, Virginia. *Journal of Coastal Research* 14: 525-536.
- 2059. **Kim**, Sung-Chan, Chen, J., Park, K., Choi, J.K., 1998. Coastal surges from extratropical storms on the west coast of the Korean Peninsula. *Journal of Coastal Research* 14: 660-666.
- 2062. **MacIntyre**, William G., Antworth, Christopher P., Stauffer, Thomas B., Young, Riki G., 1998. Heterogeneity of sorption and transport-related properties in a sand-gravel aquifer at Columbus, Mississippi. *Journal* of Contaminant Hydrology 31: 257-274.
- 2068. Dai, Ting, Wetzel, Richard L., 1998. Ecological models, ActiveX technology and the Internet. Bulletin of the Ecological Society of America 79: 98-99.2072. Silberhorn, Gene M., 1998. Invasion of Cuscuta indecora Choisey (Convolvulaceae) in a tidal brackish water marsh in Virginia. Castanea 63: 190-191.
- 2073. Nittrouer, Charles A., Lopez, Glenn R., Wright, L. Donelson, Bentley, Samuel J., D'Andrea, Anthony F., Friedrichs, Carl T., Craig, Nancy I., Sommerfield, Christopher K., 1998. Oceanographic processes and the preservation of sedimentary structure in Eckernforde Bay, Baltic Sea. Continental Shelf Research 18: 1689-1714.
- 2074. Williams, Susan L., **Orth**, Robert J., 1998. Genetic diversity and structure of natural and transplanted eelgrass populations in the Chesapeake Bay and Chincoteague Bays. *Estuaries* 21: 118-128.
- 2081. Munroe, Thomas A., 1998. Systematics and ecology of tonguefishes of the genus Symphurus (Cynoglossidae: Pleuronectiformes) from the western Atlantic Ocean. Fishery Bulletin 96: 1-182.
- 2082. Armknecht, Susan L., Kaattari, Stephen L., Van Veld, Peter A., 1998. An elevated glutathione S-transferase in creosote-resistant mummichog (Fundulus Peteroclitus). Aquatic Toxicology 41: 1-16.

# Journal and Book Contributions

- 2084. Wright, L. Donelson, Kim, Sung-Chan, Friedrichs, Carl T., 1999. Across-shelf variations in bed roughness, bed stress and sediment suspension on the northern California shelf. Marine Geology 154: 99-115.
- 2080. Robinson, Michael, Gallagher, Dan, **Reay**, William G., 1998. Field observations of tidal and seasonal variations in ground, water discharge to tidal estuarine surface water. *Groundwater Monitoring & Remediation* 18: 83-92.
- 2087. Smolowitz, Roxanna, Leavitt, Dale, **Perkins**, Frank O., 1998. Observations of a protistan disease similar to OPX in *Mercenaria mercenaria* (hard clams) from the coast of Massachusetts. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology* 71: 9-25.
- Chen, Chiu-Lan, Pollock, Kenneth H., Hoenig, John M., 1998. Combining change-in-ratio, index removal, and removal models for estimating population size. Biometrics 54: 815-827.
- 2090. Shields, Jeffery D., Ward, Landon A., 1998. Tiarinion texopallium, new species, an entoniscid isopod infesting majid crab (Tiarinia spp.) from the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. Journal of Crustacean Biology 18: 590-596.
- 2091. Perry, James E., Ware, Donna M.E., McKenney-Mueller, Amanda, 1998. Aeschynomene indica L. (Fabaceae) in Virginia. Castanea 63: 191-194.
- 2093. Gelsleichter, James, Cortes, E., Manire, C.A., Hueter, R.E., Musick, John A., 1998. Evaluation of toxicity of oxytetracycline on growth of captive nurse sharks, *Ginglymostoma cirratum*. Fishery Bulletin 96: 624-627.
- 2094. Barimo, John F., **Fine**, Michael L., 1998. Relationship of swim-bladder shape to the directionality pattern of underwater sound in the oyster toadfish. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 76: 134-143.
- 2096. Friedrichs, Carl T., Armbrust, B.D., de Swart, H.E., 1998. Hydrodynamics and equilibrium sediment dynamics of shallow, funnel-shaped tidal estuaries. In Dronkers, Job and Maarten Scheffers, eds. Physics of Estuaries and Coastal Seas; Proceedings of the Eighth International Biennial Conference Rotterdam, The Netherlands, A.A. Balkema Press:1998, p. 315-327.
- 2098. Maa, Jerome P.-Y., Hwang, H.-H., 1998. A wave transformation model for harbor planning. International Symposium on Ocean Wave Measurement and Analysis, WAVES 97: November 3-7, 1997 Virginia Beach, VA. In Edge, Billy L. and J. Michael Hemsley, eds. Ocean Wave Measurement and Analysis: Proceedings of the Third International Symposium WAVES 97 Reston, VA, American Society of Civil Engineers, p. 256-269.
- 2101. Boon, John D., 1998. Wave climate and wave monitoring in lower Chesapeake Bay. International Symposium on Ocean Wave Measurement and Analysis. WAVES 97: November 3-7, 1997 Virginia Beach, VA. In Edge, Billy L. and J. Michael Hemsley, eds. Ocean Wave Measurement and Analysis: Proceedings of the Third International Symposium WAVES 97 Reston, VA, American Society of Civil Engineers:1998, p. 1076-1087.

- 2102. Farnsworth, Katherine L., Boon, John D., 1998. Response modes of the Chesapeake Bay wave field. International Symposium on Ocean Wave Measurement and Analysis (3rd, 1997). WAVES 97: November 3-7, 1997 Virginia Beach, VA. In Edge, Billy L. and J. Michael Hemsley, eds. Ocean Wave Measurement and Analysis: Proceedings of the Third International Symposium WAVES 97 Reston, VA, American Society of Civil Engineers: 1998, p. 1468-1477.
- 2103. **Hale**, Robert C., Enos, Curt, **Gallagher**, Kathryn, 1998. Sources and distribution of polychlorinated terphenyls at a major U.S. aeronautics research facility. *Environmental Management* 22: 937-945.
- 2104. Kim, Sung-Chan, Park, Kwang-Soon, Lee, Dong-Young, Choi, Jei-Kook, 1998. Storm surges of the Korean west and south coasts. International Symposium on Ocean Wave Measurement and Analysis. WAVES 97: November 3-7, 1997 Virginia Beach, VA. In Edge, Billy L. and J. Michael Hemsley, eds. Ocean Wave Measurement and Analysis: Proceedings of the Third International Symposium WAVES 97 Reston, VA, American Society of Civil Engineers: 1998, p. 219-231.
- 2105. Driscoll, Susan B. Kane, Schaffner, Linda C., Dickhut, Rebecca M., 1998. Toxicokinetics of fluoranthene to the amphipod, Leptocheirus plumulosus, in water-only and sediment exposures. Marine Environmental Research 45: 269-284.
- 2106. **Padma**, Tiruponithura V., **Hale**, Robert C., **Roberts**, Morris H., Jr., 1998. Toxicity of water-soluble fractions derived from whole creosote and creosote-contaminated sediments. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 17: 1606-1610.
- 2107. Friedrichs, Carl T., Wright, L. Donelson, 1998. Wave effects on inner shelf wind drag coefficients. International Symposium on Ocean Wave Measurement and Analysis. WAVES 97: November 3-7, 1997 Virginia Beach, VA. In Edge, Billy L. and J. Michael Hemsley, eds. Ocean Wave Measurement and Analysis: Proceedings of the Third International Symposium WAVES 97 Reston, VA, American Society of Civil Engineers:1998, p. 1033-1047.
- 2109. van den Hurk, Peter, Faisal, Mohamed, Roberts, Morris H., Jr., 1998. Interaction of cadmium and benzo[a]pyrene in mummichog (Fundulus heteroclitus): Effects on acute mortality. Marine Environmental Research 46: 525-528.
- van den Hurk, Peter, Roberts, Morris H., Jr., Faisal, Mohamed, 1998. Interaction of cadmium and benzo[a]pyrene in mummichog (Fundulus heteroclitus): Biotransformation in isolated hepatocytes. Marine Environmental Research 46: 529-532.
- 2111. **Varnell**, Lyle M., 1998. The relationship between inundation history and bald cypress stem form in a Virginia floodplain swamp. *Wetlands* 18: 176-183.
- 2112. Nestlerode, Janet A., Diaz, Robert J., 1998. Effects of periodic environmental hypoxia on predation of a tethered polychaete, *Glycera americana*: implications for trophic dynamics. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 172: 185-195.

- 2113. Liu, Kewen, Dickhut, Rebecca M., 1998. Effects of wind speed and particulate matter source on surface microlayer characteristics and enrichment of organic matter in southern Chesapeake Bay. Journal of Geophysical Research 103: 10,571-10,577.
- 2114. Shen, Jian, Kuo, Albert Y., 1998. Application of inverse method to calibrate estuarine eutrophication model. *Journal of Environmental Engineering* 124: 409-418.
- 2115. **Anderson**, Iris C., Poth, Mark A., 1998. Controls on fluxes of trace gases from Brazilian cerrado soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 27: 1117-1124.
- VNC. Squires, Dale, Campbell, Harry, Cunningham, Stephen, Dewees, Christopher, Grafton, R Quentin, Herrick, Samuel F., Jr., Kirkley, James, Pascoe, Sean, Salvanes, Kjell, Shallard, Bruce, Turris, Bruce, Vestergaard, Niels, 1998. Individual transferable quotas in multispecies fisheries. Marine Policy 22: 135-159.
- 2116. Moksnes, P.-O., Pihl, L., **van Montfrans**, Jacques, 1998. Predation on postlarvae and juveniles of the shore crab *Carcinus maenas*: importance of shelter, size and cannibalism. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 166: 211-225.
- 2117. **Dellapenna**, Timothy M., **Kuehl**, Steven A., Schaffner, Linda C., 1998. Sea-bed mixing and particle residence times in biologically and physically dominated estuarine systems: a comparison of lower Chesapeake Bay and the York River subestuary. *Estuarine*, *Coastal and Shelf Science* 46: 777-795.
- 2118. Calvo, Lisa M. Ragone, Walker, Juanita G., Burreson, Eugene M., 1998. Prevalence and distribution of QPX, Quahog Parasite Unknown, in hard clams Mercenaria mercenaria in Virginia, USA. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms 33: 209-219.
- 2119. Yozzo, David J., **Diaz**, Robert J., 1999. Tidal freshwater wetlands: Invertebrate diversity, ecology, and functional significance. In Batzer, D.P., R.B. Rader and S.A. Wissinger,eds. Invertebrates in Freshwater Wetlands of North America: Ecology and Management 36, p. 889-918.
- 2120. Park, Kyeong, Shen, Jian, Kuo, Albert Y., 1998. Application of a multi-step computation scheme to an intratidal estuarine water quality model. Ecological Modelling 110: 281-292.
- 2121. Gelsleichter, James, Piercy, A., Musick, John A., 1998. Evaluation of copper, iron, and lead substitution techniques in elasmobranch age determination. *Journal of Fish Biology* 53: 465-470.
- 2122. Ottinger, C.A., **Kaattari**, Stephen L., 1998. Sensitivity of rainbow trout leucocytes to aflatoxin B1. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 8: 515-530.
- VNC. Goodbred, Steven L., Wright, Eric E., Hine, Albert C., 1998. Sea-level change and storm-surge deposition in a Late Holocene Florida salt marsh. *Journal of Sedimentary Research* 68(2): 240-252.
- VNC. Greiner, Megan, Hershner, Carl, 1998. Analysis of wetland total phosphorus retention and watershed structure. Wetlands 18: 142-149.
- VNC. Xu, Jingping, Wright, L. Donelson, 1998. Observations of wind-generated shoreface currents off Duck, North Carolina. Journal of Coastal Research 14: 610-619.

33

- 2124. Anderson, Robert S., Brubacher, Lisa L., Calvo, Lisa Ragone, Unger, Michael A., Burreson, Eugene M., 1998. Effects of tributyltin and hypoxia on the progression of Perkinsus marinus infections and host defense mechanisms in oyster, Crassostrea virginica (Gmelin). Journal of Fish Diseases 21: 371-380.
- 2125. **Mann**, Roger, **Evans**, David A., 1998. Estimation of oyster, *Crassostrea virginica*, standing stock, larval production and advective loss in relation to observed recruitment in the James River, Virginia. *Journal of Shell-fish Research* 17: 239-253.
- 2126. Goodbred, Steven L., Jr., Kuehl, Steven A., 1998. Floodplain processes in the Bengal Basin and the storage of Ganges-Brahmaputra river sediment: an accretion study using 137Cs and 210Pb geochronology. Sedimentary Geology 121: 239-258.
- 2127. **Gelsleichter**, James, **Musick**, John A., Nichols, Stephanie, 1999. Food habits of the smooth dogfish, *Mustelus canis*, dusky shark, *Carcharhinus obscurus*, Atlantic sharpnose shark, *Rhizoprionodon terraenovae*, and the sand tiger, *Carcharias taurus*, from the northwest Atlantic Ocean. Environmental Biology of Fishes 54: 205-217.
- 2128. Faisal, Mohamed, MacIntyre, E. Alanna, Adham, K.G., Tall, B.D., Kothary, M.H., La Peyre, Jerome F., 1998.
   Evidence for the presence of protease inhibitors in eastern (*Crassostrea virginica*) and Pacific (*Crassostrea gigas*) oysters. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology* B 121: 161-168.
- 2130. **Gelsleichter**, James, **Musick**, John A., 1999. Effects of insulin-like growth factor-I, corticosterone, and 3,3',5-tri-iodo-L-thyronine on glycosaminoglycan synthesis in vertebral cartilage of the clearnose skate, Raja eglanteria. Journal of Experimental Zoology 284: 549-556.
- 2131. Havens, Kirk J., Sharp, Edward J., 1998. Using thermal imagery in the aerial survey of animals. Wildlife Society Bulletin 26: 17-23.
- 2132. Grogan, Eileen D., Lund, Richard, Didier, Dominique, 1999. Description of the Chimaerid jaw and its phylogenetic origins. *Journal of Morphology* 239: 45-59.
- 2133. **Graves**, John E., 1998. Molecular insights into the population structures of cosmopolitan marine fishes. *Journal of Heredity* 89: 427-437.
- 2134. **Cooper**, Peter S., **Vogelbein**, Wolfgang K., **Van Veld**, Peter A., 1999. Altered expression of xenobiotic transporter P-glycoprotein in liver and liver tumours of mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) from a creosote-contaminated environment. *Biomarkers* 4: 48-58
- 2135. Oliver, L.M., Fisher, W.S., Ford, S.E., Calvo, Lisa M. Ragone, Burreson, Eugene M., Sutton, E.B., Gandy, J., 1998. Perkinsus marinus tissue distribution and seasonal variation in oysters Crassostrea virginica from Florida, Virginia and New York. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms 34: 51-61.
- 2136. **Kim**, Sung-Chan, Chen, Jye, 1999. Bottom stress of wind-driven currents over an inner shelf determined from depth-integrated storm surge model. *Journal of Coastal Research* 15: 766-773.
- 2137. **Wagner**, C. Michael, 1999. Expression of the estuarine species minimum in littoral fish assemblages of the lower Chesapeake Bay tributaries. *Estuaries* 22(2A): 304-312.

- 2138. Evans, David, Klemer, John, Kaattari, Stephen L., 1998. Heuristic models of the intermonomeric disulfide bonding process. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* 195: p. 505-524.
- 2139. Newman, Michael C., McCloskey, John T., Tatara, Christopher P., 1998. Using metal-ligand binding characteristics to predict metal toxicity: quantitative ion character-activity relationships (QICARs). Environmental Health Perspectives Supplement: Current Issues on Chemical Mixtures 106(6): 1419-1426.
- 2140. **Shields**, Jeffrey D., Buchal, Michael A., Friedman, Carolyn S., 1998. Microencapsulation as a potential control technique against sabellid worms in abalone culture. *Journal of Shellfish Research* 17: 79-83.
- 2141. **McLaughlin**, S.M., **Faisal**, Mohamed, 1998. Histopathological alterations associated with *Perkinsus* spp. infection in the softshell clam *Mya arenaria*. *Parasite* 5: 263-271.
- 2142. **Oesterling**, Michael J., 1998. "Blue" crab resources in other countries: implications for the U.S. industry. *Journal of Shellfish Research* 17: 375-378.
- 2143. Austin, Herbert M., Scoles, Daniel R., Abell, Allison J., 1999. Morphometric separation of annual cohorts within mid-Atlantic bluefish, *Pomatomus saltatrix*, using discriminant function analysis. *Fishery Bulletin* 97: 411-420.
- 2144. Wagner, C. Michael, **Austin**, Herbert M., 1999. Correspondence between environmental gradients and summer littoral fish assemblages in low salinity reaches of the Chesapeake Bay, USA. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 177: 197-212.
- 2145. Brooks, Elizabeth N., Pollock, Kenneth H., **Hoenig**, John M., Hearn, William S., 1998. Estimation of fishing and natural mortality from tagging studies on fisheries with two user groups. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 55: 2001-2010.
- 2146. Wiens, Gregory D., **Kaattari**, Stephen L., 1999. Bacterial kidney disease (*Renibacterium salmoninarum*). In Woo and Bruno, eds. Fish Diseases and Disorders, vol. III: Viral, Bacterial and Fungal Infections.
- 2147. **Perry**, James E., **Hershner**, Carl H., 1999. Temporal changes in the vegetation pattern in a tidal freshwater marsh. Wetlands 19: p. 90-99.
- VNC Masiello, Caroline A., Druffel, Ellen R.M., Bauer, James E., 1998. Physical controls on dissolved inorganic radiocarbon variability in the California Current. Deep-Sea Research II 45: 617-642.
- VNC Bauer, James E., Druffel, Ellen R.M., Wolgast, David M., Griffin, Sheila, Masiello, Caroline A., 1998. Distributions of dissolved organic and inorganic carbon and radiocarbon in the eastern North Pacific continental margin. Deep-Sea Research II 45: 689-713.
- VNC Bianchi, Thomas S., Bauer, James E., Druffel, Ellen R.M., Lambert, Corey D., 1998. Pyrophaeophorbide-a as a tracer of suspended particulate organic matter from the NE Pacific continental margin. Deep-Sea Research II 45: 715-731.
- VNC Ip, J.T.C., Lynch, D.R., Carl T. **Friedrichs**, 1998. Simulation of estuarine flooding and dewatering with application to Great Bay, New Hampshire. *Estuarine*, *Coastal and Shelf Science* 47: 119-141.

- VNC Kruse, Sarah E., Vaughn, Allison W., Lucey, John K., Hobbs, Carl H., III, Powars, David S., 1998. Postimpact deformation associated with the late Eocene Chesapeake Bay impact structure in southeastern Virginia. *Geology* 26: 507-510.
- VNC Tatara, Christopher P., Newman, Michael C., McCloskey, John T., Williams, Phillip L., 1998. Use of ion characteristics to predict relative toxicity of mono-, di- and trivalent metal ions: Caenorhabditis elegans LC50. Aquatic Toxicology 42: 255-269.
- VNC Wang, Harry V., Johnson, Billy H., Cerco, Carl F., 1998. The Chesapeake Bay experience. In Spaulding, Malcolm L. and Alan F. Blumberg, eds. Estuarine and Coastal Modeling: Proceedings of the 5th International Conference, October 22-24, 1997, Alexandria, VA Reston, VA, American Society of Civil Engineers: 1998, p. 16-27.
- 2148. **Sin**, Yongsik, **Webb**, Kenneth L., **Sieracki**, Michael E., 1998. Carbon and nitrogen densities of the cultured marine heterotrophic flagellate *Paraphysomonas* sp. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 34: 151-163.
- VNC Hoenig, John M., Barrowman, Nicholas J., Hearn, William S., Pollock, Kenneth H., 1998. Multiyear tagging studies incorporating fishing effort data. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 55: 1466-1476.
- VNC Hoenig, John M., Barrowman, Nicholas J., Pollock, Kenneth H., Brooks, Elizabeth N., Hearn, William S., Polacheck, Thomas, 1998. Models for tagging data that allow for incomplete mixing of newly tagged animals. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 55: 1477-1483.
- Kaattari, Stephen L., Evans, David, Klemer, John, 1998. Varied redox forms of teleost IgM: an alternative to isotypic diversity? *Immunological Reviews* 166: 133-142.
- 2150. Wetzel, Richard L., Sin, Yongsik, 1998. Ecosystem process models: applications to wetland systems. Ocean Research 20: 189-197.
- 2151. Sin, Yongsik, Wetzel, Richard L., Anderson, Iris C., 1999. Spatial and temporal characteristics of nutrient and phytoplankton dynamics in the York River Estuary, Virginia: analyses of long-term data. Estuaries 22(2A): 260-275.
- 2152. Duffy, J. Emmett, Macdonald, Kenneth S., 1999. Colony structure of the social snapping shrimp Synalpheus filidigitus in Belize. Journal of Crustacean Biology 19: 283-292.
- VNC Hardaway, C. Scott, Jr., Gunn, J.R., 1998. Chesapeake Bay: Design, installation, and early performance of four (4) new headland breakwater/composite systems. In Tait, Lawrence S., compiler Rethinking the Role of Structures in Shore Protection: Proceedings of the 11th Annual National Conference on Beach Preservation Technology Tallahassee, Florida Shore & Beach Preservation Association: 1998, p. 1-18.
- VNC Evans, Geoffrey T., Hoenig, John M., 1998. Testing and viewing symmetry in contingency tables, with application to readers of fish ages. Biometrics 54: p. 620-629.

- VNC Chen, C.-L., Hoenig, John M., Dawe, E.G., Brownie, C., Pollock, K.H., 1998. New developments in change-inratio and index-removal methods, with application to snow crab (Chionoecetes opilio). Canadian Special Publication of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 125: p. 49-61.
- VNC Hoenig, John M., Pollock, Kenneth H., 1998. Index-removal methods. In Kotz, S., C.B. Read, and D.L. Banks, eds. Encyclopedia of Statistical Sciences. Update v.2 New York, John Wiley and Sons, Inc.: 1998, p. 342-346.
- VNC Pollock, Kenneth H., Hoenig, John M., 1998. Changein-ratio estimators. In Kotz, S., C.B. Read and D.L. Banks, eds. Encyclopedia of Statistical Sciences. Update v.2 New York, John Wiley and Sons, Inc.,: 1998, p. 109-112.
- VNC Hobbs, Carl H., III, Hardaway, C. Scott, Jr., Berquist, C.R., Jr., 1998. Submarine sand resources, southeastern Virginia-Contributions from Year Nine and Year Ten of Virginia's Continental Margins Program. In Dellagiarino, George, Lynda A. Miller, and Susan Doenges, eds. Fourth Symposium on Studies Related to Continental Margins: a summary of year-nine and year-ten activities: proceedings, November 16-19, 1997, Corpus Christi, Texas Austin, Texas: Bureau of Economic Geology, University of Texas at Austin: 1998.
- 2153. **Lipcius**, Romuald N., Eggleston, David B., Miller, D.L., Luhrs, T.C., 1998. The habitat-survival function for Caribbean spiny lobster: an inverted size effect and nonlinearity in mixed algal and seagrass habitats. *Marine and Freshwater Research* 49: p. 807-816.
- 2154. Piganelli, Jon D., Wiens, Gregory D., Zhang, Jia A., Christensen, John M., Kaattari, Stephen L., 1999. Evaluation of a whole cell, p57- vaccine against Renibacterium salmoninarum. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms 36: p. 37-44.
- 2155. Piganelli, Jon D., Wiens, Gregory D., Kaattari, Stephen L., 1999. Elevated temperature treatment as a novel method for decreasing p57 on the cell surface of Renibacterium salmoninarum. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms 36: p. 29-35
- 2157. Buzzelli, Christopher P., 1998. Dynamic simulation of littoral zone habitats in lower Chesapeake Bay. I. Ecosystem characterization related to model development. Estuaries 21(4B): p. 659-672.
- 2158. **Buzzelli**, Christopher P., **Wetzel**, Richard L., **Meyers**, Mark B., 1998. Dynamic simulation of littoral zone habitats in lower Chesapeake Bay. II. Seagrass habitat primary production and water quality relationships. *Estuaries* 21(4B): 673-689.
- 2159. Seitz, Rochelle D., 1998. Incorporation of soft-sediment systems into a model of marine benthic community regulation. Marine and Freshwater Research 49: 817-826.
- 2167. Camhi, Merry, Fowler, Sarah, **Musick**, John, Brautigam, Amie, Fordham, Sonja, 1998. Sharks and their relatives: ecology and conservation. Occasional Paper of the IUCN Species Survival Commission No.20, 39 p.
- 2168. Asper, Vernon L., **Smith**, Walker O., Jr., 1999. Particle fluxes during austral spring and summer in the southern Ross Sea, Antarctica. *Journal of Geophysical Research-Oceans* 104C: 5345-5359.

- VCO Hood, Raleigh R., Wang, Harry V., Purcell, J.E., Houde, E.D., Harding, L.W., Jr., 1999. Modeling particles and pelagic organisms in Chesapeake Bay: convergent features control plankton distributions. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 104(C1): 1223-1243.
- VNC Wang, Harry, Amein, Michael, 1998. Modeling flow through multiple inlets and over barrier beaches. Journal of Coastal Research. Special Issue No. 26: 173-180.
- 2169. Ristow, S.S., Grabowski, L.D., Thompson, S.M., Warr, G.W., Kaattari, Stephen L., de Avila, J.M., Thorgaard, G.H., 1999. Coding sequences of the MHC II B chain of homozygous rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Developmental and Comparative Immunology 23: 51-60.
- 2170. **Southworth**, Melissa, **Mann**, Roger, 1998. Oyster reef broodstock enhancement in the Great Wicomico River, Virginia. *Journal of Shellfish Research* 17(4): 1101-1114.
- 2171. Hu, Shuhua, **Smith**, Walker O., Jr., 1998. The effects of irradiance on nitrate uptake and dissolved organic nitrogen release by phytoplankton in the Ross Sea. *Continental Shelf Research* 18:971-990.
- 2172. Daly, Kendra L., Wallace, Douglas W.R., Smith, Walker O., Jr., Skoog, Annelie, Lara, Ruben, Gosselin, Michel, Falck, Eva, Yager, Patricia L., 1999. Non-Redfield carbon and nitrogen cycling in the Arctic: effects of ecosystem structure and dynamics. Journal of Geophysical Research-Oceans 104(C2): 3185-3199.
- VNC. Smith, Walker O., Jr., Carlson, Craig A., Ducklow, Hugh W., Hansell, Dennis A., 1998. Growth dynamics of Phaeocystis antarctica-dominated plankton assemblages from the Ross Sea. Marine Ecology Progress Series 168: 229-244.
- VNC. Carlson, Craig A., Ducklow, Hugh W., Hansell, Dennis A., Smith, Walker O., Jr., 1998. Organic carbon partitioning during spring phytoplankton blooms in the Ross Sea polynya and the Sargasso Sea. Limnology and Oceanography 43: 375-386.
- 2173. Yang, Z.S., Milliman, John D., Galler, John, Liu, J.P., Sun, X.G., 1998. Yellow River's water and sediment discharge decreasing steadily. EOS 79: 589, 592.
- 2174. Silberhorn, Gene M., 1999. Common Plants of the Mid-Atlantic Coast: A Field Guide, Rev. ed. Baltimore, Johns Hopkins University Press: 1999, 294 p.
- VNC. Graves, John E., McDowell, Jan R., 1998. Population genetic structure of Atlantic Istiophorid billfishes. In Collective Volume of Scientific Papers, Report of the Third ICCAT Billfish Workshop Madrid, ICCAT: 1998 47, 329-335.
- VNC. Bauer, James E., Druffel, E.R.M., 1998. Ocean margins as a significant source of organic matter to the deep open ocean. Nature 392: 482-485.
- VNC. Wolgast, D.M., Carlucci, A., Bauer, James E., 1998.
   Nitrate respiration associated with detrital aggregates in aerobic bottom waters of the abyssal NE Pacific.
   Deep-Sea Research II 45: 881-892.
- VNC. Bauer, James E., Druffel, E.R.M., Williams, P.M., Wolgast, D.M., Griffin, S., 1998. Temporal variability in dissolved organic carbon and radiocarbon in the eastern north Pacific Ocean. Journal of Geophysical Research 103C: 2867-2882.

- VNC. Druffel, E.R.M., Griffin, S., Bauer, James E., Wang, X.-C., Wolgast, D.M., 1998. Distribution of particulate organic radiocarbon from the upper slope to the abyssal Northeastern Pacific Ocean. Deep-Sea Research 45: 667-688.
- 2175. **Luckenbach**, Mark W., **Orth**, Robert J., 1999. Effects of a deposit-feeding invertebrate on the entrapment of *Zostera marina* L. seeds. *Aquatic Botany* 62: 235-247.
- 2176. **Padma**, Tiruponithura V., **Hale**, Robert C., **Roberts**, Morris H., Jr., **Lipcius**, Romuald N., 1999. Toxicity of creosote water-soluble fractions generated from contaminated sediments to the bay mysid. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* 42: 171-176.
- 2177. Coen, Loren D., Luckenbach, Mark W., Breitburg, Denise L., 1999. The role of oyster reefs as essential fish habitat: a review of current knowledge and some new perspectives. In Benaka, Lee R., ed. Fish Habitat: Essential Fish Habitat and Rehabilitation Bethesda, MD, American Fisheries Society: 1999 American Fisheries Society Symposium 22 Sea Grant Symposium, 1998, Hartford, CT, p. 438-454.
- 2178. Kritsky, Delane C., Fennessy, Colleen J., 1999. Calicobenedenia polyprioni n. gen., n. sp. (Monogenoidea: americanus (Teleostei: Polyprionidae), in the North Atlantic. Journal of Parasitology 85: 192-195.
- 2179. Stockwell, Craig A., Mulvey, Margaret, 1998. Phosphogluconate dehydrogenase polymorphism and salinity in the White Sands pupfish. Evolution 52: 1856-1860.
- 2180. **McLaughlin**, S.M., **Faisal**, Mohamed, 1998. In vitro propagation of two Perkinsus species from the softshell clam *Mya arenaria*. *Parasite* 5: 341-348.
- 2181. Baker, Patrick K., 1998. Response of settling oyster larvae, Crassostrea virginica, to specific portions of the visible light spectrum. Journal of Shellfish Research 17: 1081-1083.
- 2182. Harding, Juliana M., 1999. Selective feeding behavior of larval naked gobies (Gobiosoma bosc) and blennies (Chasmodes bosquianus and Hypsoblennius hentzi): preferences for bivalve veligers. Marine Ecology Progress Series 179: 145-153.
- 2183. **Harding**, Juliana M., **Mann**, Roger, 1999. Fish species richness in relation to restored oyster reefs, Piankatank River, Virginia. Bulletin of Marine Science 65: 289-300.
- 2184. **McLaughlin**, S.M., **Faisal**, Mohamed, 1999. A comparison of diagnostic assays for detection of *Perkinsus* spp. in the softshell clam *Mya arenaria*. Aquaculture 172: 197-204.
- 2185. **Milliman**, John D., **Farnsworth**, Katherine L., Albertin, Christina S., 1999. Flux and fate of fluvial sediments leaving large islands in the East Indies. *Journal of Sea Research* 41: 97-107.
- VNC. Eggleston, David B., Grover, Jill J., Lipcius, Romuald N., 1998. Ontogenetic diet shifts in Nassau grouper: trophic linkages and predatory impact. Bulletin of Marine Science 63: 111-126.
- 2187. **Kotob**, Shaban I., McLaughlin, Shawn M., Berkum, Peter van, **Faisal**, Mohamed, 1999. Characterization of two Perkinsus spp. from the softshell clam, Mya arenaria, using the small subunit ribosomal RNA gene. Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology 46: 439-444.

- 2188. **Anderson**, James L., 1998. Microsoft Encarta Available:Microsoft Corporation [1998], p. 1-7.
- 2189. **Garrison**, Lance P., 1999. Vertical migration behavior and larval transport in brachyuran crabs. *Marine Ecol*ogy Progress Series 176: 103-113.
- VNC. Oguz, Temel, **Ducklow**, Hugh W., Malanotte-Rizzoli, Paola, Murray, James W., 1998. Simulations of the Black Sea pelagic ecosystem by 1-D, vertically resolved, physical-biochemical models. *Fisheries Oceanography* 7(3/4): 300-304.
- 2190. **Hargis**, William J., Jr., 1999. The evolution of the Chesapeake oyster reef system during the Holocene Epoch. In Luckenbach, Mark W., Roger Mann and James A. Wesson, eds. Oyster Reef Habitat Restoration: A Synopsis and Synthesis of Approaches Gloucester Pt., VA, VIMS Press: 1999 Chapter 1: 5-23.
- 2191. **Chu**, Fu-Lin E., **Ozkizilcik**, Sureyya, 1999. Acceptability of complex microencapsulated diets by striped bass (*Morone saxatilis*) larvae. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 237: 1-9.
- 2192. **Chu**, Fu-Lin E., 1999. Effects of field-contaminated sediments and related water soluble components on haemocyte function and *Perkinsus marinus* susceptibility and expression in oysters. *Biomarkers* 4: 537-548.
- 2193. Stauffer, Thomas B., Antworth, Christopher P., Burr, Eila M., **MacIntyre**, William G., 1999. Quadricyclane hydration kinetics in natural waters. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 18: 2237-2242.
- 2194. **Cutter**, G. Randy, Jr., **Diaz**, Robert J., 1998. Novel optical remote sensing and ground-truthing of benthic habitat using the Burrow-Cutter-Diaz plowing sediment profile camera system (BCD sled). *Journal of Shellfish Research* 17(5): 1443-1444.
- 2195. **Buonaccorsi**, Vincent P., **Reece**, Kimberly S., Morgan, Lee W., **Graves**, John E., 1999. Geographic distribution of molecular variance within the blue marlin (*Makaira nigricans*): a hierarchical analysis of allozyme, single-copy nuclear DNA, and mitochondrial DNA markers. *Evolution* 53: 568-579.
- 2196. **Carlini**, David B., **Graves**, John E., 1999. Phylogenetic analysis of cytochrome C oxidase I sequences to determine higher-level relationships within the coleoid cephalopods. Bulletin of Marine Science 64: 57-76.
- 2197. Scoles, Daniel R., Collette, Bruce B., Graves, John E., 1998. Global phylogeography of mackerels of the genus Scomber. Fishery Bulletin 96: 823-842.
- 2198. Milliman, John D., Troy, P.J., Balch, W.M., Adams, A.K., Li, Y.-H., Mackenzie, F.T., 1999. Biologically mediated dissolution of calcium carbonate above the chemical lysocline? Deep Sea Research 1 46: 1653-1669.
- 2199. Shen, Jian, Kuo, Albert Y., 1999. Numerical investigation of an estuarine front and its associated eddy. *Journal of Waterway*, Port, Coastal and Ocean Engineering 125: 127-135.
- 2200. Goodbred, Steven L., Jr., Kuehl, Steven A., 1999. Holocene and modern sediment budgets for the Ganges-Brahmaputra river system: evidence for highstand dispersal to flood-plain, shelf, and deep-sea depocenters. Geology 27: 559-562.

- VNC. Eggleston, David B., Lipcius, Romuald N., Marshall, Livingston S., Jr., Ratchford, Stephen G., 1998. Spatiotemporal variation in postlarval recruitment of the Caribbean spiny lobster in the central Bahamas: lunar and seasonal periodicity, spatial coherence, and wind forcing. Marine Ecology Progress Series 174: 33-49.
- 2202. **Bartol**, Ian K., **Mann**, Roger, **Luckenbach**, Mark W., 1999. Growth and mortality of oysters (*Crassostrea virginica*) on constructed intertidal reefs: effects of tidal height and substrate level. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 237: 157-184.
- 2203. **Terwilliger**, Mark R., **Munroe**, Thomas A., 1999. Age, growth, longevity, and mortality of blackcheek tonguefish, *Symphurus plagiusa* (Cynoglossidae: Pleuronectiformes), in Chesapeake Bay, Virginia. *Fishery* Bulletin 97: 340-361.
- 2204. **Mitra**, Siddhartha, **Dickhut**, Rebecca M., 1999. Threephase modeling of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon association with pore-water-dissolved organic carbon. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 18: 1144-1148.
- 2205. **Orth**, Robert J., **Harwell**, Matthew C., **Fishman**, James R., 1999. A rapid and simple method for transplanting eelgrass using single, unanchored shoots. *Aquatic Botany* 64: 77-85.
- 2206. Hobbs, Carl H., III, Milligan, Donna A., Hardaway, C. Scott, Jr., 1999. Long-term trends and short-term variability in shoreline change rates: Southeastern Virginia. In Kraus, Nicholas C. and William G. McDougal, eds. Coastal Sediments '99; Proceedings of the 4th International Symposium on Coastal Engineering and Science of Coastal Sediment Processes Reston, American Society of Civil Engineers: 1999 vol.2, p. 1268-1283.
- 2207. **Hardaway**, C. Scott, Jr., Gunn, James R., 1999. Chesapeake Bay: Design and early performance of three headland breakwater systems. In Kraus, Nicholas C. and William G. McDougal, ed. Coastal Sediments '99: Proceedings of the 4th International Symposium on Coastal Engineering and Science of Coastal Sediment Processes Reston, ASCE: 1999 vol.1, p. 828-843.
- 2208. Bartol, Soraya Moein, Musick, John A., Lenhardt, Martin L., 1999. Auditory evoked potentials of the loggerhead sea turtle (*Caretta caretta*). *Copeia* 1999(3): 836-840.
- 2209. Brubaker, John M., Simpson, John H., 1999. Flow convergence and stability at a tidal estuarine front: acoustic Doppler current observations. *Journal of Geophysical Research*:Oceans 104(C8): 18,257-18,268.
- 2210. **Rios**, Ruben, **Duffy**, J. Emmett, 1999. Description of Synalpheus williamsi, a new species of sponge-dwelling shrimp (Crustacea: Decapoda: Alpheidae), with remarks on its first larval stage. *Proceedings of the Biologi*cal Society of Washington 112: 541-552.
- 2211. Benz, George W., Fennessy, Colleen J., Vogelbein, Wolfgang K., 1999. New host and ocean records and remarks on the morphology and behavior of Jusheyus shogunus (Copepoda: Siphonostomatoida: Eudactylinidae). Journal of Parasitology 85: 809-814.

- 2212. **Lynch**, Maurice P., 1999. Information infrastructure in relation to management plans in estuarine and coastal regions. In Vision 2020: The People, The Coast, The Ocean; proceedings of the Coastal Zone 99 Conference, p. 134-136.
- 2213. Harwell, Matthew C., Orth, Robert J., 1999. Eelgrass (Zostera marina L.) seed protection for field experiments and implications for large-scale restoration. Aquatic Botany 64: p. 51-61.
- VNC. Pyke, Christopher R., Havens, Kirk J., 1999. Distribution of the invasive reed, *Phragmites australis*, relative to sediment depth in a created wetland. *Wetlands* 19: 283-287.
- VNC. Hovel, Kevin A.: Morgan, Steven G., 1999. Susceptibility of estuarine crab larvae to ultraviolet radiation. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 237: 107-125.
- 2214. **Harding**, Juliana M., **Mann**, Roger, 1999., Observations on the biology of the Veined Rapa whelk, Rapana venosa (Valenciennes, 1846) in the Chesapeake Bay. Journal of Shellfish Research 18: 9-17.
- 2215. Hobbs, Carl H., III, Hardaway, C. Scott, Jr., Berquist, C.R., Jr., 1999. Submarine sand resources, southeastern Virginia—Contributions from year 9 and year 10 of Virginia's continental margins program. Marine Georesources and Geotechnology 17: 155-163.
- 2216. Musick, John A., editor, 1999. Life in the Slow Lane: Ecology and Conservation of Long-lived Marine Animals. In Bethesda, Maryland, American Fisheries Society: 1999 American Fisheries Society Symposium 23, 265 p.
- VNC. Mulvey, Margaret, Liu, Hsiu-Ping, Kandl, Karen L., 1998. Application of molecular genetic markers to conservation of freshwater bivalves. *Journal of Shellfish Research* 17(5): 1395-1405.
- 2217. Musick, John A., 1999. Ecology and conservation of long-lived marine animals. In Musick, John A.,ed. Life in the Slow Lane: Ecology and Conservation of Long-Lived Marine Animals American Fisheries Society Symposium 23 Bethesda, MD, American Fisheries Society: 1999, p. 1-10.
- 2219. Faisal, Mohamed, Schafhauser, Doris Y., Garreis, Kathleen A., Elsayed, Ehab E., La Peyre, Jerome F., 1999. Isolation and characterization of *Perkinsus marinus* proteases using bacitracin-sepharose affinity chromatography. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology* B 123: 417-426.
- 2220. Elsayed, Ehab E., McLaughlin, Shawn M., **Faisal**, Mohamed, 1999. Protease inhibitors in plasma of the softshell clam Mya arenaria: identification and effects of disseminated sarcoma. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology* B 123: 427-435.
- 2221. **Mitra**, Siddhartha, **Dickhut**, Rebecca M., **Kuehl**, Steven A., **Kimbrough**, Kimani L., 1999. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) source, sediment deposition patterns, and particle geochemistry as factors influencing PAH distribution coefficients in sediments of the Elizabeth River, VA, USA. *Marine Chemistry* 66: 113-127.
- 2222. **Newman**, Michael C., McCloskey, John T., 2000. The individual tolerance concept is not the sole explanation for the probit dose-effect model. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 19: 520-526.

- 2223. Newman, Michael C., Ownby, David R., Mezin, Laurent C.A., Powell, David C., Christensen, Tyler R.L., Lerberg, Scott B., Anderson, Britt-Anne,2000. Applying species-sensitivity distributions in ecological risk assessment: assumptions of distribution type and sufficient numbers of species. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 19: 508-515.
- 2224. Vogelbein, Wolfgang K., Fournie, J.W., Cooper, Peter S., Van Veld, Peter A., 1999. Hepatoblastomas in the mummichog, Fundulus heteroclitus (L.), from a creosote-contaminated environment: a histologic, ultrastructural and immunohistochemical study. Journal of Fish Diseases 22: 419-431.
- 2225. Canuel, Elizabeth A., **Zimmerman**, Andrew R., 1999. Composition of particulate organic matter in the southern Chesapeake Bay: sources and reactivity. *Estuaries* 22: 980-994.
- 2226. **Kotob**, Shaban I., McLaughlin, S.M., van Berkum, P., **Faisal**, Mohamed, 1999. Discrimination between two *Perkinsus* spp. isolated from the softshell clam, *Mya arenaria*, by sequence analysis of two internal transcribed spacer regions and the 5\*8S ribosomal RNA gene. *Parasitology* 119: 363-368.
- 2227. Crane, Mark, **Newman**, Michael C., 2000. What level of effect is a no observed effect? *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 19: 516-519.
- 2228. Shaheen, Adel A., Elsayed, Ehab, **Faisal**, Mohamed, 1999. Isolation of *Aphanomyces* sp(p). associated with skin lesions and mortalities in the striped (*Mugil cephalus*) and the thin lip (*Liza ramada*) grey mullets. Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists 19: 79-82.
- 2229. **Garrison**, Lance P., **Morgan**, Jessica A., 1999. Abundance and vertical distribution of drifting, post-larval *Macoma* spp. (Bivalvia: Tellinidae) in the York River, Virginia, USA. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 182: 175-185.
- VNC. Moore, J. Keith, Abbott, Mark R., Richman, James G., Smith, Walker O., Cowles, Timothy J., Coale, Kenneth H., Gardner, Wilford D., Barber, Richard T., 1999. SeaWiFS satellite ocean color data from the Southern Ocean. Geophysical Research Letters 26: 1465-1468.
- VNC. Alderman, D.J., Section Editor, Faisal, Mohamed, Guest Editor, Hetrick, F.M., Guest Editor, Kaattari, Steven L., Guest Editor, Annual Review of Fish Diseases, vol.7. Aquaculture 172(1/2): 228 p.
- VNC. Southwood, Amanda L., Andrews, R.D., Lutcavage, M.E., Paladino, F.V., West, N.H., George, Robert H., Jones, D.R., 1999. Heart rates and diving behavior of leatherback sea turtles in the eastern Pacific Ocean. Journal of Experimental Biology 202: 1115-1125.
- VNC. Fisher, T.R., Gustafson, A.B., Sellner, K., Lacouture, R., Haas, Leonard W., Wetzel, Richard L., Magnien, R., Everitt, D., Michaels, B., Karrh, R., 1999. Spatial and temporal variation of resource limitation in Chesapeake Bay. Marine Biology 133: 763-778.
- 2232. Smith, Walker O., Jr., Nelson, David M., Mathot, Sylvie, 1999. Phytoplankton growth rates in the Ross Sea, Antarctica, determined by independent methods: temporal variations. Journal of Plankton Research 21: 1519-1536.

- VNC. O'Beirn, Francis X., Walker, Randal L., 1999. Pea crab, Pinnotheres ostreum Say, 1817, in the eastern oyster, Crassostrea virginica (Gmelin, 1791): prevalence and apparent adverse effects on oyster gonad development. The Veliger 42: 17-20.
- 2235. **Cutter**, G. Randy, Jr., **Diaz**, Robert J., 2000. Biological alteration of physically structured flood deposits on the Eel margin, northern California. *Continental Shelf Research* 20: 235-253.
- 2236. **Oliver**, Jacques L., **Lewis**, Teresa D., **Faisal**, Mohamed, **Kaattari**, Stephen L., 1999. Analysis of the effects of *Perkinsus marinus* proteases on plasma proteins of the Eastern oyster (*Crassostrea virginica*) and the Pacific oyster (*Crassostrea gigas*). Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 74: 173-183.
- 2238. Mitra, Siddhartha, Dellapenna, Timothy M., Dickhut, Rebecca M., 1999. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon distribution within lower Hudson River estuarine sediments: physical mixing vs. sediment geochemistry. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 49: 311-326.
- 2239. **Faisal**, Mohamed, **La Peyre**, Jerome F., Elsayed, Ehab, Wright, D. Craig, 1999. Bacitracin inhibits the oyster pathogen *Perkinsus marinus* in vitro and in vivo. Journal of Aquatic Animal Health 11: 130-138.
- 2240. Tall, B.D., La Peyre, Jerome F., Bier, J.W., Miliotis, M.D., Hanes, D.E., Kothary, M.H., Shah, D.B., Faisal, Mohamed, 1999. Perkinsus marinus extracellular protease modulates survival of Vibrio vulnificus in Eastern oyster (Crassostrea virginica) hemocytes. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 65: 4261-4263.
- 2241. Shields, Jeffrey D., Squyars, Christopher M., 2000. Mortality and hematology of blue crabs, Callinectes sapidus, experimentally infected with the parasitic dinoflagellate, Hematodinium perezi. Fishery Bulletin 98: 139-152.
- 2242. Coles, William C., **Musick**, John A., 2000. Satellite sea surface temperature analysis and correlation with sea turtle distribution off North Carolina. *Copeia* 2000(2): 551-554.
- 2245. **Chu**, Fu-Lin E., 1999. Environmental factors and the infectious disease caused by the protozoan parasite, Perkinsus marinus, in eastern oysters (Crassostrea virginica). Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pa-thologists 19: 265-268.
- 2246. Shen, Jian, **Boon**, John D., **Kuo**, Albert Y., 1999. A modeling study of a tidal intrusion front and its impact on larval dispersion in the James River estuary, Virginia. *Estuaries* 22(3A): 681-692.
- 2247. **Calvo**, Gustavo W., **Luckenbach**, Mark W., **Allen**, Standish K., Jr., **Burreson**, Eugene M., 1999. Comparative field study of *Crassostrea gigas* (Thunberg, 1793) and *Crassostrea virginica* (Gmelin, 1791) in relation to salinity in Virginia. Journal of Shellfish Research 18: 465-473.
- 2248. Pardieck, Renee A., Orth, Robert J., Diaz, Robert J., Lipcius, Romuald N., 1999. Ontogenetic changes in habitat use by postlarvae and young juveniles of the blue crab. Marine Ecology Progress Series 186: 227-238.
- 2249. Hale, Robert C., Smith, Craig L., De Fur, Paul O., Harvey, Ellen, Bush, Elizabeth O., La Guardia, Mark J., Vadas, George G., 2000. Nonylphenols in sediments and effluents associated with diverse wastewater outfalls. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 19: 946-952.

- 2250. Blazer, V.S., Vogelbein, Wolfgang K., Densmore, C.L., May, E.B., Lilley, J.H., Zwerner, David E., 1999. Aphanomyces as a cause of ulcerative skin lesions of menhaden from Chesapeake Bay tributaries. Journal of Aquatic Animal Health 11:340-349.
- 2252. Harding, Juliana M., Mann, Roger, 2000. Estimates of naked goby (Gobiosoma bosc), striped blenny (Chasmodes bosquianus), and Eastern oyster (Crassostrea virginica) larval production around a restored Chesapeake Bay oyster reef. Bulletin of Marine Science 66: 29-45.
- 2253. Barron, M.G., Schultz, I.R., Newman, Michael C., 2000. Pharmacokinetics of intravascularly administered 65zinc in channel catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*). *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* 45: 304-309.2251.
  Duffy, J. Emmett, Morrison, Cheryl L., Rios, Ruben, 2000. Multiple origins of eusociality among spongedwelling shrimps (*Synalpheus*). *Evolution* 54: 503-516.
- VNC. Lynch, Maurice P., editor, 1998. Minding the Coast: It's Everybody's Business; proceedings of the sixteenth international conference of The Coastal Society, Alexandria, VA, The Coastal Society: 1998 Proceedings of the Sixteenth International Conference of The Coastal Society, July 12-15, 1998, Williamsburg, VA., 425 p.
- 2254. **Moore**, Kenneth A., **Wetzel**, Richard L., 2000. Seasonal variations in eelgrass (*Zostera marina* L.) responses to nutrient enrichment and reduced light availability in experimental ecosystems. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 244: 1-28.
- VNC. Zucker, David A., Anderson, James L., 1999. A dynamic, stochastic model of a land-based summer flounder, Paralichthys dentatus, aquaculture firm. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society 30: 219-235.
- 2256. Johnson, M.S., Waybright, T.D., Matt, D.W., Feher, J.J., Fine, Michael L., 2000. Absence of a seasonal cycle in the sonic neuromuscular system of the oyster toadfish. Journal of Fish Biology 56: 211-215.
- 2257. Zimmerman, Andrew R., Canuel, Elizabeth A., 2000. A geochemical record of eutrophication and anoxia in Chesapeake Bay sediments: anthropogenic influence on organic matter composition. Marine Chemistry 69: 117-137.
- VNC. Battisto, Grace M., Friedrichs, Carl T., Miller, Herman C., Resio, Donald T., 1999. Response of OBS to mixed grain-size suspensions during Sandyduck '97. In Kraus, Nicholas C. and William G. McDougal, eds. Coastal Sediments '99: Proceedings of the 4th International Symposium on Coastal Engineering and Science of Coastal Sediment Processes Reston, ASCE: 1999 vol.1, p. 297-312.
- VNC. Birkemeier, William A., Nicholls, Robert J., Guan-hong Lee, 1999. Storms, storm groups and nearshore morphologic change. In Kraus, Nicholas C. and William G. McDougal, eds. Coastal Sediments '99: Proceedings of the 4th International Symposium on Coastal Engineering and Science of Coastal Sediment Processes Reston, ASCE: 1999 vol.2, p. 1109-1121.
- 2258. **Musick**, John A., 1999. Criteria to define extinction risk in marine fishes: the American Fisheries Society initiative. *Fisheries* 24(12): p. 6-14.

- 2259. Buzzelli, Christopher P., Wetzel, Richard L., Meyers, M.B., 1999. A linked physical and biological framework to assess biogeochemical dynamics in a shallow estuarine ecosystem. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 49: 829-851.
- 2260. Friedrichs, Carl T., Wright, L. Donelson, Hepworth, Daniel A., Kim, Sung-Chan, 2000. Bottom-boundarylayer processes associated with fine sediment accumulation in coastal seas and bays. Continental Shelf Research 20: 807-841.
- VNC. Teeter, Allen M., Moritz, Hans R., Wang, Harry V., Johnson, Billy H., 1999. Modeling the fate of dredged material placed at an open water disposal site in upper Chesapeake Bay, USA. In Kraus, Nicholas C. and William G. McDougal, eds. Coastal Sediments '99: Proccedings of the 4th International Symposium on Coastal Engineering and Science of Coastal Sediment Processes Reston, ASCE: 1999 vol.3, p. 2471-2486.
- Ducklow, Hugh W., 1999. The bacterial component of the oceanic euphotic zone. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 30: 1-10.
- 2263. Oguz, Temel, Ducklow, Hugh W., Malanotte-Rizzoli, Paola, Murray, James W., Shushkina, E.A., Vedernikov, V.I., Unluata, Umit, 1999. A physical-biochemical model of plankton productivity and nitrogen cycling in the Black Sea. Deep-Sea Research 1 46: 597-636.
- 2264. Ducklow, Hugh W., Carlson, Craig A., Smith, Walker O., Jr., 1999. Bacterial growth in experimental plankton assemblages and seawater cultures from the Phaeocystis antarctica bloom in the Ross Sea, Antarctica. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 19: 215-227.
- 2265. Carlson, Craig A., Bates, Nick R., **Ducklow**, Hugh W., Hansell, Dennis A., 1999. Estimation of bacterial respiration and growth efficiency in the Ross Sea, Antarctica. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 19: 229-244.
- 2269. Kaattari, Stephen L., Klemer, John V., Evans, David A., 1999. Teleost antibody structure: simple prototype or elegant alternative? Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists 19: 245-249.
- 2270. **Faisal**, Mohamed, **Oliver**, Jacques L., **Kaattari**, Stephen L., 1999. Potential role of proteaseantiprotease interactions in *Perkinsus marinus* infection in *Crassostrea* spp. Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists 19: 269-276.
- 2271. Ottinger, Christopher A., Kaattari, Stephen L., 2000. Long-term immune dysfunction in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) exposed as embryos to aflatoxin B1. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 10: 101-106.
- 2274. Burreson, Eugene M., Stokes, Nancy A., Friedman, C.S., 2000. Increased virulence in an introduced pathogen: Haplosporidium nelsoni (MSX) in the eastern oyster Crassostrea virginica. Journal of Aquatic Animal Health 12:1-8.
- 2276. Eudeline, Benoit, Allen, Standish K., Jr., Guo, Ximing, 2000. Optimization of tetraploid induction in Pacific oysters, Crassostrea gigas, using first polar body as a natural indicator. Aquaculture 187: 73-84.
- VNC. Squires, Dale, Kirkley, James, 1999. Skipper skill and panel data in fishing industries. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 56: 2011-2018

- 2277. Church, Matthew J., Hutchins, David A., Ducklow, Hugh W., 2000. Limitation of bacterial growth by dissolved organic matter and iron in the Southern Ocean. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 66: 455-466.
- 2279. Tatara, Christopher P., Mulvey, Margaret, Newman, Michael C., 1999. Genetic and demographic responses of mosquitofish (*Gambusia holbrooki*) populations exposed to mercury for multiple generations. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 18: 2840-2845.
- 2282. Goodbred, Steven L., Jr., Kuehl, Steven A., 2000. The significance of large sediment supply, active tectonism, and eustasy on margin sequence development: Late Quaternary stratigraphy and evolution of the Ganges-Brahmaputra delta. Sedimentary Geology 133: 227-248.
- 2283. Kim, Sung-Chan, Friedrichs, Carl T., Maa, Jerome P.-Y., Wright, L. Donelson, 2000. Estimating bottom stress in tidal boundary layer from Acoustic Doppler Velocimeter data. Journal of Hydraulic Engineering 126: 399-406.
- 2284. Bushek, David, Holley, Russell A., Reece, Kimberly S., 2000. Use of micromanipulation and "feeder layers" to clone the oyster pathogen, Perkinsus marinus. Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology 47:164-166.
- VNC. Lyu, Suifen, Allen, Standish K. Jr., 1999. Effect of sperm density on hybridization between Crassostrea virginica, Gmelin and C. gigas (Thunberg). Journal of Shellfish Research 18: 459-464.
- VNC. Goldman, Kenneth J., Anderson, Scot D., 1999. Space utilization and swimming depth of white sharks, Carcharodon carcharias, at the South Farallon Islands, central California. Environmental Biology of Fishes 56: 351-364.
- VNC. Berthe, Franck C.J., Burreson, Eugene M., Hine, Michael, 1999. Use of molecular tools for mollusc disease diagnosis. Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists 19: 277-278.
- VNC. Shanks, Alan L., Largier, John, Brink, Laura, Brubaker, John, Hooff, Rian, 2000. Demonstration of the onshore transport of larval invertebrates by the shoreward movement of an upwelling front. Limnology and Oceanography 45: 230-236.
- 2289. Gaylor, Michael O., Hale, Robert C., 2000. Supercritical fluid extraction of polychlorinated biphenyls from fish tissue. In Williams, J.R. and A.A.
  Clifford, eds. Supercritical Fluid Methods and Protocols Totowa, NJ, Humana Press Inc: 2000 Methods in Biotechnology, Vol.13 Chapter 5, p. 41-53.
- 2293. Eudeline, Benoit, **Allen**, Standish K., Jr., Guo, Ximing, 2000. Delayed meiosis and polar body release in eggs of triploid Pacific oysters, *Crassostrea gigas*, in relation to tetraploid production. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 248: 151-161.
- VNC. Wills, Paul S., Sheehan, Robert J., Allen, Standish K., Jr., 2000. Reduced reproductive capacity in diploid and triploid hybrid sunfish. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 129: 30-40.

- VNC. **Grogan**, Eileen D., Lund, Richard, 2000. Debeerius ellefseni (Fam. Nov., Gen. Nov., Spec. Nov.), an autodiastylic chondrichthyan from the Mississippian Bear Gulch Limestone of Montana (USA), the relationships of the *Chondrichthyes*, and comments on gnathostome evolution. Journal of Morphology 243: 219-245.
- VNC. Rudershausen, Paul J., Loesch, Joseph G., 2000. Feeding habits of young-of-year striped bass, Morone saxatilis, and white perch, Morone americana, in lower James River, VA. Virginia Journal of Science 51: 23-37.
- VNC. Cruz-Lacierda, Erlinda R., Toledo, Joebert D., Tan-Fermin, Josefa D., Burreson, Eugene M., 2000. Marine leech (*Zeylanicobdella arugamensis*) infestation in cultured orange-spotted grouper, *Epinephelus coioides*. Aquaculture 185: 191-196.

VNC. **Lucy**, Jon, Davy, Kay, 2000. Benefits of angler-assisted tag and release programs. *Fisheries* 25(4): 18-23.

- VNC. Musick, John A., Berkeley, S.A., Cailliet, G.M., Camhi, M., Huntsman, G., Nammack, M., Warren, M.L., Jr., 2000. Protection of marine fish stocks at risk of extinction. Fisheries 25(3): 6-8.
- VNC. Musick, John A., Burgess, G., Cailliet, G., Camhi, M., Fordham, S., 2000. Management of sharks and their relatives (Elasmobranchii). Fisheries 25(3): 9-13.
- VNC. Coleman, F.C., Koenig, C.C., Huntsman, G.R., Musick, John A., Eklund, A.M., McGovern, J.C., Chapman, R.W., Sedberry, G.R., Grimes, C.B., 2000. Long-lived reef fishes: the grouper-snapper complex. *Fisheries* 25(3): 14-21.
- VNC. Parker, S.J., Berkeley, S.A., Golden, J.T., Gunderson, D.R., Heifetz, J., Hixon, M.A., Larson, R., Leaman, B.M., Love, M.S., **Musick**, John A., O'Connell, V.M., Ralston, S., Weeks, H.J., Yoklavich, M.M., 2000. Management of Pacific rockfish. *Fisheries* 25(3): 22-30.
- VNC. Hanson, Roger B., Ducklow, Hugh W., Field, John G., eds, 2000. The Changing Ocean Carbon Cycle: A Midterm Synthesis of the Joint Global Ocean Flux Study. International Geosphere-Biosphere Programme Book Series, Shelved under GC190.2.C3925 2000, 514 p. Cambridge UK, Cambridge University Press: 2000. In Benaka, L., ed. Fish habitat: essential fish habitat and rehabilitation Bethesda, MD, American Fisheries Society: 1999 American Fisheries Society Symposium 22: 41-42.
- 2305. Hall, Lenwood W., Jr., Scott, Mark C., Killen, William D., **Unger**, Michael A., 2000. A probabilistic ecological risk assessment of tributyltin in surface waters of the Chesapeake Bay watershed. Human and Ecological Risk Assessment 6: 141-179.
- VNC. Duffy, J. Emmett, Hay, Mark E., 2000. Strong impacts of grazing amphipods on the organization of a benthic community. Ecological Monographs 70: 237-263.
- VNC. Ruiz-Verdugo, Cesar A., Ramirez, Jose L., Allen, Standish K., Jr., Ibarra, Ana M., 2000. Triploid catarina scallop (Argopecten ventricosus Sowerby II, 1842): growth, gametogenesis, and suppression of functional hermaphroditism. Aquaculture 186: 13-32.

- VNC. Munroe, Thomas A., 2000 An overview of the biology, ecology, and fisheries of the clupeoid fishes occurring in the Gulf of Maine. U.S. National Marine Fisheries Service, Northeast Fisheries Science Center Reference Document 00-02, 226 p.
- VCN. Fournie, John W., Vogelbein, Wolfgang K., Overstreet, Robin M., Hawkins, William E., 2000. Life cycle of Calyptospora funduli (Apicomplexa: Calyptosporidae). Journal of Parasitology 86: 501-505.
- 2316. McKinney, James D., Richard, Ann, Waller, Chris, **Newman**, Michael C., Gerberick, Frank, 2000. The practice of structure activity relationships (SAR) in toxicology. *Toxicological Sciences* 56: 8-17.,
- VNC. Smith, Walker O., Jr., Niebauer, H.J., Asper, V.L., 2000. Coupling of surface layer biological processes and vertical flux in the Ross Sea. VNC. In Faranda, F. M., L. Gugielmo andf A. Ianora, eds., Berlin, Springer: 2000 Ross Sea Ecology: Italiantartide Expeditions (1987-1995) Chapter 12: 151-157.
- VNC. Ducklow, Hugh W., 2000. Bacterial production and biomass in the oceans. In Kirchman, David L., ed. New York, Wiley-Liss:2000 Microbial Ecology of the Oceans, Chapter 4: 85-120.
- VNC Oesterling, Michael J., 2000. Biology of certain commercial crustaceans: Crabs. In Martin, Roy E., Emily Paine Carter, George J. Flick, Jr. and Lynn M. Davis, eds. Marine & Freshwater Products Handbook Lancaster, Tecnomic Publishing Co.:2000, p. 167-177.
- VNC. Fisher, Robert A., 2000. Biology of certain commercial mollusk species: Scallops. In Martin, Roy E., Emily Paine Carter, George J. Flick, Jr. and Lynn M. Davis, eds. Marine & Freshwater Products Handbook Lancaster, Technomic Publishing Co.:2000, p. 83-109.
- VNC. Doney, S.C., Wallace, D.W.R., **Ducklow**, Hugh W., 2000. The North Atlantic carbon cycle: new perspectives from JGOFS and WOCE. In Hanson, Roger B., Hugh W. Ducklow and John G. Field, eds. The Changing Ocean Carbon Cycle: a midterm synthesis of the Joint Global Ocean Flux Study Cambridge UK, Cambridge University Press:2000 Chapter 12: 375-391.
- VNC. Field, J.G., Ducklow, Hugh W., Hanson, R.B., 2000. Some conclusions and highlights of JGOFS midproject achievements. In Hanson, Roger B., Hugh W. Ducklow and John G. Field, eds. The Changing Ocean Carbon Cycle: a midterm synthesis of the Joint Global Ocean Flux Study Cambridge UK, Cambridge University Press:2000 Chapter 17: 493-499.

### **Data Reports**

- Battisto, Grace M. & Carl T. Friedrichs. November 1998. Laser in-situ scattering and transmissometry (LISST) observations in support of the Sensor Insertion System, Duck, NC, October 1997. 69 p.
- Hepworth, Daniel A., Carl T. Friedrichs & John M. Brubaker. 1998. Cross-shoreface suspended sediment transport: a response to the interaction of nearshore and shelf processes, Fall 1994 Duck, NC field experiment. 129 p.

### **Educational Series**

- 44. **Harding**, Juliana M., Roger **Mann** & Vicki P. **Clark**. April 1999. VORTEX: Oyster reef communities in Chesapeake Bay: a brief primer. 9 p.
- Harding, Juliana M., Roger Mann & Vicki P. Clark. 1999. Oyster reef communities in the Chesapeake Bay. CD ROM.
- 46. **Haynes**, Susan. Sept. 1999. What does it take to become a marine scientist? 9 p.
- 47. **Harding**, Juliana M., Roger **Mann** & Vicki P. **Clark**. Nov. 1999. Shell games. 20 p.

### Marine Resource Advisory

#### (VA Sea Grant)

- 64. Target species and tagging procedures: Virginia Game Fish Tagging Program. 1998 update.
- Fisher, Robert A., Michael Oesterling & Tom Rippen. 1998. Model HACCP program for fresh and frozen soft shell blue crabs: process flow chart/hazard analysis and sanitation standard operating procedures (SSOP). 14 p.
- 69. **Mann**, Roger. 1998. Veined rapa whelk, Rapana venosa, found in Virginia waters. I sheet
- 70. **Fisher**, Robert A. 1999. Seafood restructuring using cold-set binding technology. 16 p.
- 71. **Kirkley**, James E. & William D. **DuPaul**. Dec. 1998. The U.S. Northwest Atlantic sea scallop fishery: an overview of problems and potential solutions. 4 p.

# Special Report in Applied Marine Science and Ocean Engineering

- 347. **Van Engel**, Willard A. 1998. Laws, regulations and environmental factors and their potential effects on the stocks and fisheries for the blue crab, *Callinectes sapidus*, in the Chesapeake Bay region, 1880-1940. 89 p.
- 348. Kuo, Albert Y., Arthur J. Butt, Sung-Chan Kim & Jing Lin. November 1998. Application of a tidal prism water quality model to Virginia small coastal basins: Poquoson River, Piankatank River, Cherrystone Inlet and Hungars Creek.

- 349. Calvo, Gustavo W., Mark W. Luckenbach & Eugene M. Burreson. January 1999. A comparative field study of Crassostrea gigas and Crassostrea virginica in relation to salinity in Virginia. 40 p.
- 350. Shen, Jian, Chang-Shik Kim, Sung-Chan Kim & Albert Y. Kuo. January 1999. Modeling coastal hydrodynamics and water quality of Kyunggi Bay, Korea: application of VIMS HEM-3D model. 61 p.
- 351. Berman, Marcia, Harry Berquist, Sharon Dewing, George Thomas & Rose Laird. Feb. 1999. Gloucester County Shoreline and Tidal Marsh Inventory.
- Berman, Marcia, Sharon Dewing, Daniel Schatt & Harry Berquist. 1999. York County Shoreline Situation Report 1999.
- 353. Berman, Marcia, Sharon Dewing, Daniel Schatt & Harry Berquist. 1999. James City County Shoreline Situation Report 1999.
- 354. Boon, John D., Harry V. Wang, Sung-Chan Kim, Albert Y. Kuo & Gamble M. Sisson. March 1999. Three dimensional hydrodynamic-sedimentation modeling study: Hampton Roads Crossing, Lower James River, Virginia: a report to the Virginia Department of Transportation. 36 p.
- 355. **Moore**, Kenneth A., David J. **Wilcox**, Robert J. **Orth** & Eva M. **Bailey**. April 1999. Analysis of historical distribution of submerged aquatic vegetation (SAV) in the James River. 42 p.
- 356. **Hardaway**, C. Scott & Robert J. **Byrne**. Oct. 1999. Shoreline management in Chesapeake Bay. 54 p.
- 357. **Kuo**, Albert Y., Sung-Chan **Kim**, Kyeong **Park** & M. Dale **Phillips**. Oct. 1999. Development of an expert system based on a tidal prism water quality model for small coastal basins in Virginia. 61 p.
- 358. **Lipcius**, Romuald N. & Marcel M. **Montane**. Dec. 1999. Interannual decline, compensatory exploitation, and conservation of the Chesapeake Bay blue crab population in winter. 27 p.
- 360. **Calvo**, Gustavo M., Mark W. **Luckenbach**, Standish K. **Allen** and Eugene M. **Burreson**. A comparative field study of *Crassostrea ariakensis* and *Crassostrea virginica* in relation to salinity in Virginia. 19 p.
- 361. Berman, Marcia, Harry Berquist, Tamia Rudnicky, Julia Glover, Sharon Dewing, Daniel Schatt, Kevin Skunda & Michael Campana. April 2000. Piankatank River Shoreline Situation Report.
- 363. Berman, Marcia, Harry Berquist, Tamia Rudnicky, Julia Glover, Sharon Dewing, Dan Schatt, and Kevin Skunda. June 2000. King and Queen County Shoreline Situation Report.

### **Special Scientific Report**

- 137. **Haas**, Leonard W. & Kenneth L. **Webb**. January 1998. Resource limitation of phytoplankton in the Virginia Chesapeake Bay and tributaries using nutrient-addition bioassays. 17 p.
- 138. Orth, Robert J., Judith F. Nowak, David J. Wilcox, Jennifer R. Whiting and Leah S. Nagy. Dec. 1998. Distribution of submerged aquatic vegetation in the Chesapeake Bay and tributaries and the coastal bays-1997. 351 p.